
 1A

March 19, 2024 Board Meeting

agenda

item DOCUMENT Section
1,2,3,4 CTO, Roll Call, Pledge, Additions (5 min)

 Agenda 2

Opportunity to Address Board (5 min)

2023 Final Audit Report for Lake Bluff Library
2023 Board Communications from Auditor 3
2023 Final Audit Report - Lake Bluff Library 4

Approval of Minutes (action) (5 minutes) 
Regular Minutes 5
Board Retreat Minutes 6

Director's Updates (10 minutes)
Director's Report 7
February 2024 FY Statistics Graphs 8
February 2024 Statistics 3 Year Graphs 9

Committee Reports (20 minutes)

February Financial Reports (action) (2 minutes)
February 2024 Detailed Revenue/Expenditures Report 10

Approval of Checks (action) (2 minutes)
February 2024 Check Disbursement Report 11

New Business (1 hr. 30 min)
Engberg Anderson Proposal for Master Plan 12
Proposed Policy Update - Governance and Organizational Structure 13
CVI two year LAN Contract 14
CVI Quote - Security Server 15
February 2024 Hours Pilot Monthly Report 16
Hours Pilot Comments Feb2024 17
Feb2024 Heat Map 18
Recommended Hours of Service by Population ILA Standards 4.0 19

Library Correspondence (5 minutes)
Correspondence 1: Patron Letter 20
Correspondence 2: Comment Cards 21
Correspondence 3: Letter from Library Board President 22
Correspondence: ALA Press Release 23

Any and All Other Business (5 minutes)

Executive Session(s) if needed

Adjournment (1 minute)



 

Lake Bluff Public Library 
Board of Library Trustees Meeting 

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 at 7:00 PM 
123 E. Scranton Ave, Lake Bluff, IL 60044 

 
The in-person meeting will be simulcast for any members of the public who do not wish to attend the meeting 
in-person at the Lake Bluff Public Library building. Questions related to the Library agenda can be sent before 
or during the meeting to Library Director Renee Grassi at rgrassi@lakeblufflibrary.org. The meeting will be 
recorded, with the recording made available through the Library’s website. For any questions, contact at 
Renee Grassi at 847-234-2540 or rgrassi@lakeblufflibrary.org. 
 
NOTICE: Members of the public may attend in-person or participate in the meeting remotely via Zoom: 
 
Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/2069598344?omn=852
87634016  
 
Meeting ID: 206 959 8344 
One tap mobile 
+13092053325,,2069598344# US 
+13126266799,,2069598344# US (Chicago) 
 
 
 

 
Dial by your location 
• +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 
• +1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC) 
• +1 646 558 8656 US (New York) 
• +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 
• +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston) 
• +1 720 707 2699 US (Denver) 
 
Find your local number: 
https://us06web.zoom.us/u/kbdF5On7zq

Agenda 
1. Call to Order  
2. Roll Call (1 min) 
3. Pledge of Allegiance (1 min) 
4. Additions & Corrections to the Agenda (2 min) 
5. Opportunity for Public to Address the Board (5 min) 
6. 2023 Final Audit Report for Lake Bluff Library (20 min) 

a. Presentation by Martha Trotter, CPA and Bettina O’Connoll, Finance Director, Village of Lake Bluff 
b. Discussion and Q&A  
c. ACTION: Vote to Approve 2023 Final Audit Report presented by Sikich, LLP 

7. Approval of Board Meeting Minutes (5 min) 
a. ACTION: Approval of Minutes of February 20, 2024 Regular Board Meeting 
b. ACTION: Approve of Minutes of February 24, 2024 Library Board Retreat  

8. Library Director Updates (10 min) 
a. Director’s Report 
b. Monthly Statistics Reports 

9. Committee Reports (25 min) 
(Met) 
a. Bylaws & Policy Committee (CHAIR: Friedeman. Members: Graziano and Zaute.) 
b. Building and Grounds Committee (CHAIR: Jerch. MEMBERS: Berg, Shaul.) 
c. Human Resources Committee (CHAIR: Graziano. MEMBERS: Jerch and Shaul.) 
d. Long Range Planning Committee (CHAIR: Shaul. MEMBERS: Friedeman) 
e. Engagement Committee (CHAIR: Berg. MEMBERS: Graziano) 
f. Special Topics Committee (AD HOC. Committee membership is assigned by topic) 



  
 

 

(Did Not Meet) 
g. Finance Committee (CHAIR: Hayes. MEMBERS: Shaul, Zaute.) 
h. Technology Committee (CHAIR: TBD. MEMBERS: Hayes, Zaute, Shaul) 
i. Intergovernmental Committee (MEMBERS: Jerch, Grassi) 

10. February 2024 Financial Reports (5 min) 
a. ACTION: Approve February Detailed Revenue & Expense Report  
b. ACTION: Approve February Monthly Check Disbursement (15963-15969) 

11. New Business   
a. ACTION: Discuss and vote to approve Engberg Anderson Proposal for Master Plan 
b. ACTION: Discuss and vote to approve proposed policy update to Library’s Governance and 

Organizational Structure Policy  
c. ACTION: Discuss and vote to approve CVI two-year LAN Contract 
d. ACTION: Discuss and vote to approve CVI Quote – Security Server 
e. Director Presentation and Discussion: Hours Pilot Report – Month 2, Feb. 2024  

12. Library Correspondence (7 min) 
a. Correspondence 1: Patron Letter 
b. Correspondence 2: Comment Cards 
c. Correspondence 3: Letter from Library Board President 
d. Correspondence 4: ALA Press Release – Record Number of Book Challenges  

13. Any and all other business which may properly come before the Board (10 min) 
a. Statement of Economic Interest Due May 1, 2024  

14. Executive Session(s) if needed 
a. Discussion of minutes of meetings lawfully closed under this Act, whether for purposes of approval 

by the body of the minutes or semi-annual review of the minutes as mandated by Section 2.06 and 
in compliance with the Open Meetings Act 5 ILCS 120/2 (c) (21) 

b. To discuss the appointment, compensation, discipline, performance or dismissal of specific 
employees of the public body in compliance with the Open Meetings Act 5 ILCS 120/2 (c) (1) 

15. Adjournment (1 minute) 
 
Attachments  

 2023 Board Communications from Auditor 
 2023 Final Audit Report – Lake Bluff Library 
 Regular Minutes 
 Board Retreat Minutes 
 Directors Report Feb2024 
 February 2024 FY Statistical Graph 
 February 2024 3 Year Comparison 
 February Revenue and Expenditures Report 
 February Check Disbursement Report 
 Engberg Anderson Proposal for Master Plan 
 Proposed Policy Update – Governance and 

Organizational Structure 

 CVI two year LAN Contract  
 CVI Quote – Security Server 
 February 2024 Hours Pilot Monthly Report 
 Hours Pilot Comments Feb2024 
 Feb2024 2024 Heat Map 
 Recommended Hours of Service by Population ILA 

Standards 4.0 
 Correspondence 1: Patron letter 
 Correspondence 2: Comment Cards 
 Correspondence 3: Letter from Library Board 

President 
 Correspondence 4: ALA Press Release  

 
 
Upcoming Board Meetings  

o March 19, 2024 at 7 pm: IN PERSON, Lake Bluff Public Library 
o April 16, 2024 at 7 pm: IN PERSON, Lake Bluff Public Library 
o May 21, 2024 at 7 pm: IN PERSON, Lake Bluff Public Library 



Lake Bluff Public Library

Library Board of Trustees Meeting

Tuesday, February 20th at 7 PM

123 E. Scranton Avenue, Lake Bluff, Illinois 60044

Notice: This meeting of the Lake Bluff Library Board of Trustees was held with a quorum of Trustees

physically present. The meeting was simulcast for any members of the public who did not wish to attend

the meeting in-person at the Lake Bluff Public Library building. Guidelines and access codes were

published before the meeting so members of the public could log in. The meeting was recorded, with the

recording made available through the Library’s website. As required by law, at least one representative

from the Library was present at the Library while participating in the meeting.

1. Call to Order: Board President Bonnie Shaul called the meeting to order at 7:04 pm.

2. Roll Call: Trustees Friedeman, Jardine, Zaute, Graziano, Shaul and Jerch were present; Trustee

Hayes was absent. Library Director Renee Grassi and library staff members Eliza Jarvi, Katie

Horner and Martha O’Hara (remote) were present. Regis Charlot (Lake Bluff Village Board

President), Kathy O’Hara (Lake Bluff History Museum) and Shaun Kelley (Engberg Anderson)

were also in attendance.

a. Trustee Jerch moved to approve Trustee Graziano’s remote participation for the

beginning of the meeting; Trustee Zaute seconded; all voted aye.

3. Additions & Corrections to the Agenda:

a. Trustee Friedeman requested that the Bylaws & Policy Committee membership in the

agenda be amended to reflect the most up-to-date members with the removal of

Trustee Graziano from the committee.

b. Trustee Friedeman requested to amend the fiscal year budget stated as “FY 2025-2025”

to “FY 2025-2026” due to a typo in the agenda.

c. Trustee Shaul requested to move January 2024 Financial Reports earlier in the agenda to

follow the Building Presentation by Engberg Anderson Architects with Check

Disbursements preceding Revenue & Expense report.

4. Opportunity for Public to Address the Board: There was none.

5. Remarks by Village Board President Regis Charlot: Regis Charlot made statements to the Board

following Board President Bonnie Shaul’s presentation to the Village Board on January 8, 2024.

Regis commended the Library’s initiation of a long-term plan and emphasized that the Library

should consider short-term, technical (one year) and strategy goals (3-5 years) as components of

the plan. He expressed the Village’s unwavering support of the Library as an asset to the

community.

6. Building Presentation by Shaun Kelly, Engberg Anderson Architects:

a. Shaun Kelly provided an overview of the 2022 Building & Site Facility report that

included a capital reserves study broken into five year periods for a 20-year lookahead at



facility needs and costs associated with life safety, near-term system integrity, long-term

system integrity and aesthetics systems.

b. Shaun Kelly provided an overview of the 2023 Universal Design Assessment report that

details short, mid and long-term projects that would increase universal access to the

Library, as well as adhere to all accessibility code.

7. Approval of Board Meeting Minutes

a. Trustee Jardine moved to approve the Board meeting minutes from January 24, 2024,

Trustee Jerch seconded; Trustees Friedeman, Jerch and Jardine voted aye; Trustees

Shaul, Zaute and Graziano abstained. The motion did not pass. The January 24, 2024

meeting minutes will be included for approval in the March Board meeting.

8. January 2024 Financial Reports:

a. January Monthly Check Disbursement (15905-15940): The Board reviewed all checks

from January 2024. Trustee Jerch moved to approve checks numbered 15905-15940,

Trustee Zaute seconded; all voted aye.

b. January 2024 Detailed Revenue & Expense Report: Trustee Jerch moved to approve the

January 2024 revenue and expense report, Trustee Zaute seconded; all voted aye.

9. New Business:

a. Vote to approve and adopt the FY 2024-2025 Budget: Trustee Jerch moved to approve

the amended FY 2024-2025 Budget, Trustee Zaute seconded; all voted aye.

b. Vote to approve and adopt the FY 2025-2026 Budget: Trustee Zaute moved to approve

the FY 2025-2026 Budget, Trustee Jardine seconded; all voted aye.

10. Library Director Updates:

a. Director’s Report: Library Director Grassi provided an overview of January 2024

happenings at the library. She highlighted that the winter reading club participation this

year grew in every age group and digital circulation broke records in January 2024.

b. Monthly Statistics Report: Director Grassi provided a Library usage overview, with a

focus on additional statistics that will be tracked in the future, including study room use

and number of questions answered at the circulation desks.

11. Committee Reports

(Met)

a. Bylaws & Policy Committee (CHAIR: Friedeman. MEMBERS: Zaute): The Bylaws & Policy

committee postponed its update for a future meeting due to the action item on this

agenda.

b. Building & Grounds Committee (CHAIR: Jerch. MEMBERS: Berg, Shaul): The Building &

Grounds committee postponed its update for a future meeting due to the action item on

this agenda.

c. Finance Committee (CHAIR: Hayes. MEMBERS: Shaul, Zaute): The Finance committee

postponed its update for a future meeting due to the action item on this agenda.

d. Technology Committee (CHAIR: Berg. MEMBERS: Graziano): The committee is

requesting that the Bylaws & Policy Committee amend bylaws to reflect a combined



Technology & Finance Committee. The committee evaluated the state of the laptops in

the building, with many of them dating back to 2012 and the most updated laptops from

2019. The Technology committee is exploring how to build in a budget line item for a

30% replacement rate of laptops annually. The committee also discussed the grant

awarded to the Library in 2019 and its possible use for security systems, a paging system,

access control and door alarms.

e. Engagement Committee (CHAIR: Jardine. MEMBERS: Graziano): Trustee Jardine provided

an update from the engagement committee, which includes building a Trustee

onboarding process and identifying Trustee connections with local groups in the village

to present a cohesive message to the community.

(Did Not Meet)

f. Human Resources Committee

g. Long Range Planning Committee

h. Intergovernmental Committee

i. Intergovernmental Committee

j. Special Topics Committee

12. New Business (continued)

a. Vote to updated Collection Development Policy: Trustee Jerch moved to approve the

revised Collection Development policy, Trustee Graziano seconded; all voted aye.

b. Vote to approve Resolution 2024.2.20.A Resolution in Support of SB2787 – Amends

the Illinois Local Library Act and the Public Library District Act of 1991 Regarding

Competitive Bidding: Trustees Shaul, Friedeman, Jerch, Graziano and Jardine voted aye

to approve Resolution 2024.2.20.A.

c. Hours Pilot Report for Jan. 2024: Library Director Grassi provided an overview of the

first official Hours Pilot Report, which included quantitative overview of visit count, staff

leave, programs and library services. It also included staff and community input, analysis

of library services and a heat map from January 2024. Library traffic on Tuesdays and

Thursdays (later operating hours until 9 pm) has not experienced increased traffic

compared to prior to the pilot. Saturday visits increased in January after the start of the

pilot. There continues to be higher levels of traffic in the morning close to opening

hours, which is also supported by anecdotal feedback from the community that earlier

opening hours (9 am) would be desirable for caregivers and parents of young children.

Youth services visits are not fully counted in the heat map due to the bypass of the door

counting software when using the elevator. Eliza Jarvi has been conducting informal

assessments of youth services usage for patrons going directly to the elevator. Director

Grassi analyzed staff leave percentages from January 2024 at 13.3% of total work hours.

Program cancellations were due to the HVAC issues, not staffing issues. A survey for the

community to provide input on the hours pilot will launch with the spring newsletter



through a QR code link that will help identify how the library is being used and what

future changes are desired.

13. Library Correspondence: Director Grassi provided copies of the PPRT Lake Forester Article, PPRT

web announcement and Lake County Chronicle article. The Chronicle article will be reprinting an

amended article due to multiple incorrect data points and statements.

14. Any and all other business which may come before the Board:

a. The Board Retreat is scheduled for Saturday, February 24 from 9 am – 1 pm at Lake Bluff

Park District

15. Executive Session(s) if needed: There was none.

16. Adjournment: Trustee Jerch moved to adjourn, Trustee Friedeman seconded; all voted aye. The

meeting adjourned at 10:07 pm.

Respectfully submitted,

Alexandra Friedeman

Secretary



Lake Bluff Public Library

Library Board of Trustees Meeting

Saturday, February 24th at 9 AM

Lake Bluff Park District Recreation Center

355 West Washington Avenue, Lake Bluff, IL 60044 - First Floor Community Room

Notice: This meeting of the Lake Bluff Library Board of Trustees was held with a quorum of Trustees

physically present. The meeting was recorded. As required by law, at least one representative from the

Library was present at the Library while participating in the meeting.

1. Call to Order: Board President Bonnie Shaul called the meeting to order at 9:05 am.

2. Roll Call: Trustees Friedeman, Jardine, Zaute, Graziano, Shaul and Jerch were present; Trustee

Hayes was absent. Library Director Renee Grassi, Jamie Rachlin (Meristem Advisors) and Carrie

Welles (facilitator) were also in attendance.

3. Additions & Corrections to the Agenda: There were none.

4. Opportunity for Public to Address the Board: There was none.

5. Remarks by Board President Bonnie Shaul: President Shaul thanked the Board for their

increased engagement and acknowledged Library Director Grassi’s leadership in the

transformation of the library.

6. Introduction & Review of the Day by Renee Grassi: Director Grassi reiterated thanks to the

Board for their engagement. Director Grassi provided an overview of the day’s schedule and

made an introduction to Jamie Rachlin, Municipal Advisor from Meristem Advisors, LLC.

7. Financial Presentation and Discussion by Jamie Rachlin, Municipal Advisory from Meristem

Advisors, LLC: Jamie Rachlin presented the financial condition of the Library, as well as a

summary of operating and capital needs. This includes revenue options for the Library and

determining pathways to meet financial objectives. Director Grassi and Jamie Rachlin will

develop a summary table of revenue options to the Board.

8. Post-Presentation Discussion and Q&A: The Board engaged in a discussion regarding the

presentation by Jamie Rachlin.

9. Community Engagement Discussion facilitated by Carrie Welles: The Board discussed what

community views of the Library are based on feedback provided to Trustees by community

members and future topics/messaging that the Library needs to communicate to the community.

10. Executive Session(s) if needed: There was none.

11. Review Action Items, Final Remarks from Library Director Renee Grassi: Director Grassi shared

thanks to Jamie Rachlin and Carrie Welles for their participation in the Board retreat. As a next

step, Director Grassi will work with the Library Board to summarize the topics discussed at the

Board Retreat to share with the community

12. Adjournment: Trustee Jerch moved to adjourn, Trustee Zaute seconded; all voted aye. The

meeting adjourned at 1:00 pm.



Respectfully submitted,

Alexandra Friedeman

Secretary



Director’s Report 
February, 2024 

Administration and Human Resources 
 On Saturday, February 24, the Lake Bluff Public Library Trustees gathered at the Lake Bluff Park 

District in their Community Room for the organization’s first ever professional Board Retreat. 
The keynote speaker was Jamie Rachlin, President of Meristem Advisors LLC and Senior Financial 
Executive with decades of experience as a registered municipal advisor.  All Library Board 
Trustees were in attendance at the Retreat, except Bill Hayes who was absent due to an out of 
town engagement. The goal of this 4-hour professional retreat was to evaluate the Library’s 
current financial standing, discuss financial opportunities, and develop short and long term goals 
to ensure the sustainability of the organization. A Summary of the Board Retreat is being written 
and will be posted on the Library’s website and social media on March 25. Thank you, Library 
Trustees, for your commitment and leadership of the Library! 

 Starting on February 1, 2024, the Library’s fulltime Community Engagement and 
Communications Manager began a 12-week Emergency Leave. In addition, at the end of 
February, the Library’s part time Cataloging Librarian began time off to address personal 
situations. A significant amount of responsibilities have been shifted to address these staffing 
limitations, while other projects have been deprioritized or more finely scoped. Thank you to all 
staff who have assisted in various ways with these staffing needs.  

 Director Renee Grassi and Administrative Associate Laurence Sacherer collaborated on 
streamlining and improving invoicing processes, with Laurence taking on some additional 
invoicing responsibilities.  Thank you, Laurence, for your help with this! 

 The Library’s Policies, Financial and Other Information webpage has been updated.  made some 
changes to the financial documents page on the library website. A procedure and strategy for 
annual updates has been identified and implemented. 

 The Meeting Room Policy implementation began in Summer 2023 and was put on hold for 

several months due to staff capacity. Led by Adult Services and Technology Manager Martha 

O’Hara, work resumed on this project in February and the new staff procedure will go live on 

March 13, 2024.  

 Director Grassi submitted the Library’s application for the RAILS (Reaching Across Illinois Library 

System) “My Library Is” grant to fund $5000 worth of engagement strategies with the Lake Bluff 

Public Library community in support of the Library’s upcoming Long Range Planning process. 

 Adult Services Librarian Anna Fifhause resumed responsibilities for the design of program flyers. 

Process improvements were suggested and made by Anna, which included the design of a new 

program bookmark featuring an overview of events by age group. Thank you, Anna! 

 With regard to Passport Services, patron satisfaction continues to be high with the quality of our 

services, although need far exceeds our overall availability. Patrons are requesting more 

availability overall, but are particularly interested in weekend appointments, which we can’t 

provide with our passport agents’ schedules. Desk staff continue to see an increase in the 

number of phone inquiries about passports. Martha O’Hara added passport availability back into 

her schedule in February, dedicating 2 hours per month for passport appointments. Staff 

capacity for this service will continue to be evaluated.  

 Passport applications processed: 25 

 Notary transactions completed: 19 

Collections 
 According to data gathered by Adult Services Librarian Anna Fifhause who manages the Library’s 

digital collection of ebooks and eaudiobooks, the Library continues to see strong usage of digital 

https://www.lakeblufflibrary.org/about-us/policies-financial-other-information


materials. The Library’s holds list increases and Per Capita Grant funds are used to purchase 

additional titles to address long waitlists. Regarding the Library’s Hoopla service, the Library has 

had 60 new patrons register for Hoopla in the last 12 months and seen an 18% increase in 

spending compared to the prior year. Director Grassi and Anna Fifhause are discussing the 

possibilities of reducing patron checkout limits for Hoopla to 6 titles from 8 per month to still 

meet the increasing demand and usage trends. For example, 88% of patrons borrowed six titles 

or less in the last 6 months and the Hoopla pricing model is pay per use/download.  

 The Library continued its relabeling project in the Youth Services Department to replace faded 

and illegible spine labels. Total books relabeled: 200 

o This project will be on hold starting in March due to the Library’s cataloging librarian 

being on emergency leave and special cataloging projects being deprioritized. 

 Because of significant decreases in circulation and increases in music downloads from the 

Library’s digital collections, Youth Music CDs have been weeded and removed from the 

collection. This change is on trend with public libraries nationally moving to more digital formats 

and less physical music items. Thank you to Youth Services Manager Eliza Jarvi and her team for 

this analysis and improvement! 

 In an effort to streamline workflows and support increasing Reference and Circulation Manager 

Katie Horner’s capacity, Adult Services Librarian Anna Fifhause agreed to assume the 

responsibility of collection development managing the Trending Titles – Fiction collection, with 

the first order placed in February. In addition, Library Associate Claire Osada has agreed to 

assume the responsibility of updating the Library’s monthly New Releases online LibGuide for 

both the Adult Fiction and Adult Non-Fiction collections. Also, Adult Services Librarian Gus 

Standiford has officially assumed the responsibility for video game collection management. Gus 

began with a weeding project of the collection at the end of February. Thank you, Anna, Claire 

and Gus, for taking on these new responsibilities and supporting this change in workflow! 

 With direction from Director Grassi, Administrative Associate Laurence Sacherer and Adult 

Services and Technology Manager Martha O’Hara started a project to evaluate the library’s 

Adult Magazine collection. Laurence visited both Highwood Public Library and Glencoe Public 

Library to gather information about the size of their collections and what magazine titles they 

subscribe too. After this analysis, along with a thorough evaluation of the Lake Bluff Library’s 

magazine circulation data, it was determined that our Library’s collection was too large for our 

budget, population size, physical footprint of the building. As a result of this project, they 

identified 30 titles to discontinue, which will result in a savings of approximately $1300 for FY25-

26. Next steps in this effort are currently being identified. Great work, Martha and Laurence! 

 Thank you to Anna Fifhause who updated the Library’s Black History Month online LibGuides. 

 The Youth Services Department launched in their space a new collection of circulating bags for 

checkout. Thank you to the Friends of the Lake Bluff Library for sponsoring this purchase!  

 February  Library Displays:  

o Black History Month: childrens, teen, and adult 
o Read Your Heart Out (American Heart Health Month)  
o Galentine’s Day and Anti-Valentine’s Day  
o Holidays: Valentine’s Day, Presidents Day 
o Staff Favorites picture books 



Communications 
 Adult Services and Technology Manager Martha O’Hara and Director Grassi led communication 

efforts for the Library starting February 1, 2024 due to staff leave. The two developed a 

communication plan and rollout of the Hours Pilot Survey. The survey launched earlier than 

planned due to the release of the Spring print newsletter to homes. As of the time this report is 

written, the Library has received 124 survey responses. The survey will close on May 31, 2024.  

Social Media Highlights 
Highest interacted post was the Library’s Valentine’s Day photos 
featuring staff and books they love with 51 likes, 2 comments, 1 
shares on Instagram. Thank you Rachel, Gus, Katie, Martha and 
Audrey for helping spread the joy of reading to the community! 
 

Events, Programming and Outreach 
 Teen Volunteers Monthly Statistics 

o Total Number of Volunteers: 4 
o Total Hours Volunteered: 9 
o Total Number of Activities: 3 

 In February, Youth Services Librarian Mary Webber 
presented four storytimes to a total of 108 children at 
the Park District Preschool. Great work, Mary! 

 Thanks to Trustee Jenny Graziano’s suggestion, the 
Library was a featured presenter at the Lake Bluff Park 
District Preschool’s Staff Development Day. Youth 
Services Librarian Mary Webber planned and presented 
a training for preschool staff about the design and use of 
flannel boards to support early literacy in the classroom. 
Lake Bluff Park District Preschool District Dana Hansen shared the message in gratitude: “Thank 
SO, SO much to everyone!!! We are so lucky to have such a great resource – THE LIBRARY and 
it’s TEAM – for all of us to enjoy. Your skills and endless kindness are such a gift to us all.”  

 Adult Services Librarian Anna Fifhause and Library Associate Lizzie Crampton collaborated on 
the planning of a new series of Adult Grab-and-Go craft bags for Spring 2024. Similar to the 
grab-and-go crafts offered in Youth Services, the goal behind offering these craft bags is to 
increase building visits, meet the interests of the community with arts and crafts programming, 
provide programming opportunities to patrons who needs flexibility in attending events at a 
specific day and time, and support current staffing capacity for hosting programming.  

 This month’s Illinois Libraries Present virtual program Romance and Regency with Bridgerton’s 
Julia Quinn garnered 8 Lake Bluff viewers—the best attended live Illinois Libraries Present 
programming to date! 

 Adult Services Librarian Anna Fifhause, supported by Martha O’Hara, hosted an in-person Tea 
Social event garnering 10 attendees. This staff-led program invited guests to sample a variety of 
ingredients and create their own blends. Great work, Anna! 

 Director Grassi met with Lake Bluff History Museum Executive Director Kathy O’Hara and 
Museum Board Member Mark Dewart to discuss the Library’s level of participation and 
responsibilities for the 2024 Lake Bluff Birthday Bash. Because of staffing constraints and a 
refocus on in-building services to support operating hours, the Library’s role will be much 
decreased and more tightly scoped compared to previous years. All three agreed to this plan. 

https://www.lakeblufflibrary.org/news/evaluating-librarys-hours-pilot


 Total Youth Services Grab and Go Crafts distributed this month: 108  

 
Technology Updates 

 The Library’s internal procedures and documentation for hosting hybrid (virtual and in-person) 
events, such as Board meetings and other programs, were developed and implemented. The 
new procedure, which debuted at the February Board meeting, aims to minimize audio issues 
experienced by virtual and in-person attendees. Thank you to the Management Team for 
completing this important procedural work. 

 Director Grassi and Martha O’Hara I met CVI for an in-depth meeting reviewing the Library’s 

needs for security cameras (indoor and outdoor), a paging system, and an alarmed door system 

with fob access for exterior and interior doors. The group completed a building tour to support 

the planning.  

 The Library’s current contract with Granite (telephone vendor) ended in November, 2023. The 

Library had originally discussed finding a new vendor at the end of the contract; however, due 

to decreased staff capacity, the Library deprioritized this project until next year. After several 

month to month renewals, the contract was renewed for one additional year in February. In 

addition, the Library’s phone equipment will be 5 years old in 2025, which is the typical lifespan 

for phone systems. The new goal is to request a quote from a new vendor that includes new 

equipment in 2025.  

Building and Maintenance Updates  

 Director Grassi submitted the Library’s application for the Illinois State Library’s Remodeling for 
Accessibility Grant requesting $45,000 to fund necessary improvements to the facility and 
property to meet accessibility code compliance regulations and improve customer experience. 
Thank you to Library Trustee Alexandra Friedeman whose help and support with the application 
was instrumental!  

 Director Grassi met with Product + Design Architects Tiffany Nash and Dan Pohrte to discuss the 
delamination of the carpet tile experienced throughout the library building. They recommended 
a carpet installing company, who will be contacted to provide pricing and quotes to remediate 
the loose carpet.  

 As a result of the Library’s Board Retreat, and in an effort to identify more information about 
the Library’s facilities short and long term needs, the Trustees instructed Director Grassi to 
inquire with Engberg Anderson Architects for a Master Plan Project Proposal that includes a 
scope of work and quote. Director Grassi contacted Shaun Kelly from Engberg Anderson, who 
will deliver a quote and proposal for the March 2024 Board meeting.  



























R
E
V
E
N
U
E
 
A
N
D
 
E
X
P
E
N
D
I
T
U
R
E
 
R
E
P
O
R
T
 
F
O
R
 
L
A
K
E
 
B
L
U
F
F
 
V
I
L
L
A
G
E

1
/
5

P
a
g
e
:
 

0
3
/
1
7
/
2
0
2
4
 
1
2
:
0
8
 
P
M

U
s
e
r
:
 
r
g
r
a
s
s
i

D
B
:
 
L
a
k
e
 
B
l
u
f
f

P
E
R
I
O
D
 
E
N
D
I
N
G
 
0
2
/
2
9
/
2
0
2
4

%
 
B
D
G
T

U
S
E
D

2
0
2
3
-
2
4

A
M
E
N
D
E
D
 
B
U
D
G
E
T

Y
T
D
 
B
A
L
A
N
C
E

0
2
/
2
8
/
2
0
2
3

N
O
R
M
 
(
A
B
N
O
R
M
)

Y
T
D
 
B
A
L
A
N
C
E

0
2
/
2
9
/
2
0
2
4

N
O
R
M
 
(
A
B
N
O
R
M
)

A
C
T
I
V
I
T
Y
 
F
O
R

M
O
N
T
H
 
0
2
/
2
8
/
2
3

I
N
C
R
 
(
D
E
C
R
)

A
C
T
I
V
I
T
Y
 
F
O
R

M
O
N
T
H
 
0
2
/
2
9
/
2
4

I
N
C
R
 
(
D
E
C
R
)

D
E
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N

G
L
 
N
U
M
B
E
R

F
u
n
d
 
0
8
0
 
-
 
L
A
K
E
 
B
L
U
F
F
 
P
U
B
L
I
C
 
L
I
B
R
A
R
Y

R
e
v
e
n
u
e
s

D
e
p
t
 
3
0
0
 
-
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E

P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y
 
T
A
X
E
S

9
9
.
2
4
 

1
,
0
8
4
,
3
6
4
.
0
0
 

1
,
0
2
1
,
8
4
0
.
1
7
 

1
,
0
7
6
,
0
9
8
.
7
1
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y
 
T
A
X
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
0
0
0
0

9
9
.
2
4
 

1
,
0
8
4
,
3
6
4
.
0
0
 

1
,
0
2
1
,
8
4
0
.
1
7
 

1
,
0
7
6
,
0
9
8
.
7
1
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y
 
T
A
X
E
S

O
T
H
E
R
 
T
A
X
E
S

1
0
0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

4
,
9
2
3
.
5
1
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

P
E
R
S
O
N
A
L
 
P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y
 
R
E
P
L
A
C
E
 
T
A
X

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
0
2
0
0

1
0
0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

4
,
9
2
3
.
5
1
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

O
T
H
E
R
 
T
A
X
E
S

C
H
A
R
G
E
 
F
O
R
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S

9
5
.
3
6
 

2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
,
5
1
1
.
0
6
 

1
,
9
0
7
.
2
8
 

1
3
8
.
1
9
 

1
6
6
.
1
1
 

P
H
O
T
O
-
C
O
P
Y
 
C
H
A
R
G
E
S

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
4
2
3
5

8
4
.
1
7
 

6
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

5
,
7
1
1
.
1
7
 

5
,
0
4
9
.
9
7
 

1
7
9
.
5
9
 

3
2
4
.
1
6
 

N
O
N
-
R
E
S
I
D
E
N
T
 
F
E
E
S

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
4
2
5
0

6
3
.
5
1
 

2
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

2
7
,
0
4
4
.
8
6
 

1
2
,
7
0
2
.
1
9
 

3
,
0
8
0
.
8
5
 

8
3
0
.
1
0
 

P
A
S
S
P
O
R
T
 
F
E
E
S

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
4
2
6
0

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

P
A
S
S
P
O
R
T
 
P
O
S
T
A
G
E
 
R
E
I
M
B

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
4
2
6
5

7
0
.
2
1
 

2
8
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

3
4
,
2
6
7
.
0
9
 

1
9
,
6
5
9
.
4
4
 

3
,
3
9
8
.
6
3
 

1
,
3
2
0
.
3
7
 

C
H
A
R
G
E
 
F
O
R
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S

F
I
N
E
S
/
F
O
R
F
E
I
T
S

1
4
7
.
5
8
 

1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
,
3
1
8
.
2
5
 

1
,
4
7
5
.
7
5
 

1
2
5
.
7
2
 

1
2
9
.
1
8
 

L
I
B
R
A
R
Y
 
F
E
E
S

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
5
7
0
0

1
4
7
.
5
8
 

1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
,
3
1
8
.
2
5
 

1
,
4
7
5
.
7
5
 

1
2
5
.
7
2
 

1
2
9
.
1
8
 

F
I
N
E
S
/
F
O
R
F
E
I
T
S

I
N
T
E
R
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L

0
.
0
0
 

1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

M
I
S
C
 
G
R
A
N
T
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
6
2
0
0

0
.
0
0
 

8
,
2
8
4
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

P
E
R
 
C
A
P
I
T
A
 
G
R
A
N
T
S

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
6
2
6
5

0
.
0
0
 

9
,
2
8
4
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

I
N
T
E
R
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L

M
I
S
C
E
L
L
A
N
E
O
U
S

0
.
0
0
 

1
0
,
2
3
3
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

V
I
L
L
A
G
E
 
C
O
N
T
R
I
B
U
T
I
O
N

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
7
0
0
0

1
.
2
7
 

7
9
0
.
0
0
 

7
9
0
.
0
0
 

1
0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

V
L
I
E
T
 
O
P
E
R
A
T
I
N
G
 
C
O
S
T
 
C
O
N
T
R
I
B

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
7
0
1
0

9
6
.
7
7
 

1
,
5
5
0
.
0
0
 

1
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 

5
0
0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

S
C
H
O
O
L
 
D
I
S
T
 
6
5
 
I
G
A

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
7
0
2
0

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

C
O
N
T
R
I
B
U
T
I
O
N
S
/
D
O
N
A
T
I
O
N
S

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
8
3
0
0

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

C
O
N
T
R
I
B
U
T
I
O
N
S
/
D
O
N
A
T
I
O
N
S

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
8
3
1
0

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

R
E
S
T
R
I
C
T
E
D
 
D
O
N
A
T
I
O
N
S

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
8
3
1
5

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

R
E
S
T
R
I
C
T
E
D
 
G
R
A
N
T
S

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
8
3
1
6

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

N
A
P
E
R
V
I
L
L
E
 
(
I
M
P
A
C
T
)
 
F
E
E

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
8
8
0
0

(
6
1
.
2
2
)

5
0
0
.
0
0
 

7
.
1
7
 

(
3
0
6
.
0
8
)

(
3
.
0
0
)

(
1
9
2
.
5
0
)

L
I
C
E
N
S
E
 
R
E
N
E
W
A
L
S

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
8
8
5
0

2
,
8
5
6
.
5
7
 

3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

4
,
8
4
7
.
7
4
 

8
5
,
6
9
7
.
1
9
 

4
3
6
.
6
5
 

2
4
.
0
0
 

M
I
S
C
E
L
L
A
N
E
O
U
S
 
I
N
C
O
M
E

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
8
9
0
0

5
4
0
.
6
7
 

1
6
,
0
7
3
.
0
0
 

7
,
1
4
4
.
9
1
 

8
6
,
9
0
1
.
1
1
 

9
3
3
.
6
5
 

(
1
6
8
.
5
0
)

M
I
S
C
E
L
L
A
N
E
O
U
S

I
N
V
E
S
T
M
E
N
T
 
I
N
C
O
M
E

2
0
9
.
8
2
 

2
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
5
,
8
9
0
.
7
2
 

4
1
,
9
6
3
.
0
0
 

2
,
5
0
6
.
1
9
 

3
,
3
7
4
.
6
3
 

I
N
T
E
R
E
S
T
 
E
A
R
N
I
N
G
S

0
8
0
-
3
0
0
-
3
7
5
0
0

2
0
9
.
8
2
 

2
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
5
,
8
9
0
.
7
2
 

4
1
,
9
6
3
.
0
0
 

2
,
5
0
6
.
1
9
 

3
,
3
7
4
.
6
3
 

I
N
V
E
S
T
M
E
N
T
 
I
N
C
O
M
E

1
0
6
.
2
4
 

1
,
1
5
8
,
7
2
1
.
0
0
 

1
,
0
8
0
,
4
6
1
.
1
4
 

1
,
2
3
1
,
0
2
1
.
5
2
 

6
,
9
6
4
.
1
9
 

4
,
6
5
5
.
6
8
 

T
o
t
a
l
 
D
e
p
t
 
3
0
0
 
-
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E

1
0
6
.
2
4
 

1
,
1
5
8
,
7
2
1
.
0
0
 

1
,
0
8
0
,
4
6
1
.
1
4
 

1
,
2
3
1
,
0
2
1
.
5
2
 

6
,
9
6
4
.
1
9
 

4
,
6
5
5
.
6
8
 

T
O
T
A
L
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
S

E
x
p
e
n
d
i
t
u
r
e
s

D
e
p
t
 
6
0
3
 
-
 
L
I
B
R
A
R
Y
 
A
D
M
I
N
I
S
T
R
A
T
I
O
N



R
E
V
E
N
U
E
 
A
N
D
 
E
X
P
E
N
D
I
T
U
R
E
 
R
E
P
O
R
T
 
F
O
R
 
L
A
K
E
 
B
L
U
F
F
 
V
I
L
L
A
G
E

2
/
5

P
a
g
e
:
 

0
3
/
1
7
/
2
0
2
4
 
1
2
:
0
8
 
P
M

U
s
e
r
:
 
r
g
r
a
s
s
i

D
B
:
 
L
a
k
e
 
B
l
u
f
f

P
E
R
I
O
D
 
E
N
D
I
N
G
 
0
2
/
2
9
/
2
0
2
4

%
 
B
D
G
T

U
S
E
D

2
0
2
3
-
2
4

A
M
E
N
D
E
D
 
B
U
D
G
E
T

Y
T
D
 
B
A
L
A
N
C
E

0
2
/
2
8
/
2
0
2
3

N
O
R
M
 
(
A
B
N
O
R
M
)

Y
T
D
 
B
A
L
A
N
C
E

0
2
/
2
9
/
2
0
2
4

N
O
R
M
 
(
A
B
N
O
R
M
)

A
C
T
I
V
I
T
Y
 
F
O
R

M
O
N
T
H
 
0
2
/
2
8
/
2
3

I
N
C
R
 
(
D
E
C
R
)

A
C
T
I
V
I
T
Y
 
F
O
R

M
O
N
T
H
 
0
2
/
2
9
/
2
4

I
N
C
R
 
(
D
E
C
R
)

D
E
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N

G
L
 
N
U
M
B
E
R

F
u
n
d
 
0
8
0
 
-
 
L
A
K
E
 
B
L
U
F
F
 
P
U
B
L
I
C
 
L
I
B
R
A
R
Y

E
x
p
e
n
d
i
t
u
r
e
s

S
A
L
A
R
I
E
S

9
9
.
8
4
 

2
2
0
,
5
5
7
.
0
0
 

1
7
7
,
2
3
6
.
3
2
 

2
2
0
,
2
0
2
.
9
4
 

2
1
,
5
8
2
.
8
2
 

2
3
,
2
5
9
.
8
6
 

L
I
B
R
A
R
I
A
N
 
S
A
L
A
R
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
0
0
2
5

7
6
.
0
0
 

3
7
9
,
8
0
0
.
0
0
 

2
8
3
,
6
4
0
.
8
9
 

2
8
8
,
6
6
3
.
9
5
 

2
7
,
0
0
3
.
6
6
 

3
1
,
5
5
3
.
5
6
 

S
T
A
F
F
 
S
A
L
A
R
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
0
0
3
0

8
4
.
7
6
 

6
0
0
,
3
5
7
.
0
0
 

4
6
0
,
8
7
7
.
2
1
 

5
0
8
,
8
6
6
.
8
9
 

4
8
,
5
8
6
.
4
8
 

5
4
,
8
1
3
.
4
2
 

S
A
L
A
R
I
E
S

P
E
R
S
O
N
N
E
L

7
7
.
4
8
 

9
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

6
6
,
4
2
1
.
1
9
 

7
3
,
6
0
6
.
8
3
 

7
,
3
2
8
.
7
8
 

7
,
3
6
0
.
8
5
 

M
E
D
I
C
A
L
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
0
4
0
0

0
.
0
0
 

2
5
0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

O
T
H
E
R
 
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
E
 
B
E
N
E
F
I
T
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
0
9
0
0

7
7
.
2
8
 

9
5
,
2
5
0
.
0
0
 

6
6
,
4
2
1
.
1
9
 

7
3
,
6
0
6
.
8
3
 

7
,
3
2
8
.
7
8
 

7
,
3
6
0
.
8
5
 

P
E
R
S
O
N
N
E
L

R
E
T
I
R
E
M
E
N
T

8
7
.
6
3
 

4
4
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

3
4
,
9
1
1
.
5
7
 

3
8
,
5
5
7
.
4
9
 

3
,
6
8
1
.
7
2
 

4
,
1
4
6
.
6
6
 

E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
F
I
C
A
 
T
A
X

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
0
9
7
0

5
3
.
8
0
 

3
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

2
2
,
4
0
3
.
6
9
 

1
6
,
1
3
9
.
7
5
 

1
,
5
9
8
.
3
9
 

1
,
6
2
1
.
9
1
 

I
M
R
F
 
R
E
T
I
R
E
M
E
N
T
 
C
O
N
T
R
I
B
U
T
I
O
N

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
0
9
8
0

7
3
.
9
2
 

7
4
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

5
7
,
3
1
5
.
2
6
 

5
4
,
6
9
7
.
2
4
 

5
,
2
8
0
.
1
1
 

5
,
7
6
8
.
5
7
 

R
E
T
I
R
E
M
E
N
T

C
O
N
T
R
A
C
T
U
A
L

1
6
0
.
4
6
 

4
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

2
9
,
7
3
2
.
5
2
 

6
5
,
7
8
7
.
5
9
 

1
,
7
7
7
.
9
5
 

8
,
9
1
2
.
0
0
 

M
A
I
N
T
E
N
A
N
C
E
-
B
U
I
L
D
I
N
G

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
1
0
0
0

5
7
.
9
4
 

1
,
7
5
0
.
0
0
 

1
,
2
4
7
.
0
0
 

1
,
0
1
4
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

E
L
E
V
A
T
O
R
 
M
A
I
N
T
E
N
A
N
C
E

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
1
0
2
0

9
2
.
5
0
 

9
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

5
,
4
4
0
.
0
0
 

8
,
3
2
5
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

M
A
I
N
T
E
N
A
N
C
E
-
G
R
O
U
N
D
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
1
0
5
0

1
0
0
.
5
7
 

1
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
4
,
3
8
5
.
0
0
 

1
5
,
0
8
5
.
0
0
 

3
8
5
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

C
O
M
P
U
T
E
R
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
1
3
0
0

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

C
O
M
P
U
T
E
R
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
/
D
O
 
N
O
T
 
U
S
E

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
1
3
0
1

2
2
1
.
0
2
 

4
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

3
,
1
0
4
.
9
5
 

8
,
8
4
0
.
8
6
 

1
1
1
.
3
6
 

6
0
9
.
2
9
 

C
O
P
I
E
R
 
M
A
I
N
T
E
N
A
N
C
E
/
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
1
3
1
3

2
1
1
.
7
5
 

1
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

6
,
6
4
0
.
0
7
 

2
1
,
1
7
4
.
8
8
 

0
.
0
0
 

3
,
8
0
7
.
6
9
 

O
T
H
E
R
 
P
R
O
F
E
S
S
I
O
N
A
L
/
C
O
N
T
R
A
C
T
U
A
L

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
1
3
1
4

1
0
7
.
3
9
 

1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

5
4
5
.
2
8
 

1
,
0
7
3
.
9
4
 

4
4
9
.
2
3
 

0
.
0
0
 

M
A
R
K
E
T
I
N
G

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
1
3
4
5

5
1
3
.
4
8
 

1
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
,
3
5
0
.
0
0
 

7
,
7
0
2
.
2
5
 

0
.
0
0
 

7
0
1
.
2
5
 

L
E
G
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
1
3
5
0

9
8
.
5
8
 

4
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 

2
,
9
5
6
.
1
9
 

4
,
4
3
6
.
1
4
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

P
R
O
F
E
S
S
I
O
N
A
L
 
D
E
V
E
L
O
P
M
E
N
T

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
2
4
0
0

1
5
2
.
0
7
 

8
7
,
7
5
0
.
0
0
 

6
5
,
4
0
1
.
0
1
 

1
3
3
,
4
3
9
.
6
6
 

2
,
7
2
3
.
5
4
 

1
4
,
0
3
0
.
2
3
 

C
O
N
T
R
A
C
T
U
A
L

C
O
M
M
O
D
I
T
I
E
S

6
5
.
3
2
 

2
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
,
8
5
6
.
2
7
 

1
,
6
3
3
.
0
4
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

D
U
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
2
4
4
0

7
6
.
4
0
 

1
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

7
,
0
1
8
.
6
1
 

9
,
9
3
2
.
1
4
 

7
0
0
.
3
5
 

1
,
2
3
4
.
4
6
 

U
T
I
L
I
T
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
2
3
0

6
7
.
9
4
 

7
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

6
,
5
0
3
.
5
5
 

4
,
7
5
5
.
7
5
 

6
3
2
.
5
0
 

6
7
7
.
3
9
 

P
O
S
T
A
G
E

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
3
0
0

9
4
.
1
3
 

1
2
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
0
,
3
7
9
.
9
0
 

1
1
,
7
6
6
.
1
2
 

2
9
.
9
9
 

2
,
1
7
0
.
3
1
 

P
R
I
N
T
I
N
G
/
E
-
N
E
W
S
L
E
T
T
E
R

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
4
1
0

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

P
A
S
S
P
O
R
T
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
5
2
0

8
8
.
8
1
 

7
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

6
,
5
7
8
.
7
2
 

6
,
2
1
6
.
9
7
 

1
,
0
1
8
.
0
5
 

6
9
2
.
2
5
 

O
F
F
I
C
E
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
5
5
0

2
6
8
.
1
4
 

1
,
7
5
0
.
0
0
 

1
,
3
6
7
.
9
4
 

4
,
6
9
2
.
5
3
 

2
9
1
.
8
1
 

2
,
5
6
0
.
0
0
 

M
A
I
N
T
E
N
A
N
C
E
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S
-
B
U
I
L
D
I
N
G

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
6
6
0

7
7
.
4
8
 

5
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 

3
,
1
9
3
.
5
1
 

4
,
2
6
1
.
1
3
 

2
1
2
.
5
8
 

3
5
0
.
4
7
 

T
E
C
H
N
I
C
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
6
6
8

1
8
1
.
6
4
 

1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

8
5
5
.
5
5
 

1
,
8
1
6
.
3
7
 

2
8
1
.
0
0
 

4
6
.
5
1
 

H
O
S
P
I
T
A
L
I
T
Y
 
P
R
O
G
R
A
M
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
7
0
0

7
6
.
6
7
 

8
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

6
,
4
2
9
.
6
5
 

6
,
1
3
3
.
9
5
 

6
3
.
0
9
 

6
6
.
9
9
 

A
D
U
L
T
 
P
R
O
G
R
A
M
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
7
1
0

9
7
.
3
0
 

7
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

6
,
0
9
5
.
5
2
 

6
,
8
1
0
.
6
6
 

7
2
.
3
3
 

6
3
.
9
6
 

J
U
V
E
N
I
L
E
 
P
R
O
G
R
A
M
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
7
2
0

4
8
.
8
4
 

6
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

2
,
8
6
5
.
0
2
 

2
,
9
3
0
.
2
6
 

5
0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

O
U
T
R
E
A
C
H
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
7
3
0

6
6
.
1
7
 

1
,
2
5
0
.
0
0
 

3
1
5
.
6
0
 

8
2
7
.
0
9
 

3
0
.
3
6
 

0
.
0
0
 

T
E
E
N
 
P
R
O
G
R
A
M
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
7
4
0

8
3
.
5
3
 

3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

2
,
6
7
3
.
0
0
 

2
,
5
0
5
.
8
8
 

6
4
.
0
0
 

7
4
.
0
0
 

M
I
S
C
E
L
L
A
N
E
O
U
S
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
6
1
0
0

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

E
X
P
E
N
S
E
S
 
F
R
 
R
E
S
T
R
I
C
T
E
D
 
D
O
N
A
T
I
O

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
8
0
0
1

8
5
.
1
4
 

7
5
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 

5
6
,
1
3
2
.
8
4
 

6
4
,
2
8
1
.
8
9
 

3
,
4
4
6
.
0
6
 

7
,
9
3
6
.
3
4
 

C
O
M
M
O
D
I
T
I
E
S

L
I
B
R
A
R
Y
 
M
A
T
E
R
I
A
L
S

6
6
.
1
8
 

1
7
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
0
,
4
5
9
.
5
9
 

1
1
,
2
5
1
.
1
6
 

7
2
0
.
5
5
 

1
,
1
7
0
.
3
3
 

A
D
U
L
T
 
N
O
N
-
F
I
C
T
I
O
N
 
B
O
O
K
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
0
0
0

8
7
.
7
8
 

1
5
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
3
,
6
4
6
.
3
9
 

1
3
,
6
0
6
.
2
2
 

7
9
5
.
4
3
 

9
6
7
.
1
2
 

A
D
U
L
T
 
F
I
C
T
I
O
N
 
B
O
O
K
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
1
0
0

8
7
.
0
0
 

7
0
0
.
0
0
 

4
2
7
.
6
1
 

6
0
9
.
0
0
 

1
8
.
5
4
 

9
7
.
8
4
 

A
D
U
L
T
 
L
A
R
G
E
 
P
R
I
N
T
 
M
A
T
E
R
I
A
L

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
1
1
0

6
0
.
2
5
 

1
5
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 

9
,
3
2
2
.
1
8
 

9
,
3
3
8
.
7
7
 

1
,
1
1
2
.
8
6
 

9
7
4
.
5
9
 

A
D
U
L
T
 
A
U
D
I
O
 
V
I
S
U
A
L
 
M
A
T
E
R
I
A
L

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
2
0
0

9
5
.
3
4
 

2
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
6
,
5
3
2
.
4
6
 

2
0
,
0
2
2
.
2
0
 

4
2
6
.
4
2
 

5
4
5
.
3
5
 

A
D
U
L
T
 
R
E
F
E
R
E
N
C
E
/
E
-
R
E
F
E
R

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
2
2
0



R
E
V
E
N
U
E
 
A
N
D
 
E
X
P
E
N
D
I
T
U
R
E
 
R
E
P
O
R
T
 
F
O
R
 
L
A
K
E
 
B
L
U
F
F
 
V
I
L
L
A
G
E

3
/
5

P
a
g
e
:
 

0
3
/
1
7
/
2
0
2
4
 
1
2
:
0
8
 
P
M

U
s
e
r
:
 
r
g
r
a
s
s
i

D
B
:
 
L
a
k
e
 
B
l
u
f
f

P
E
R
I
O
D
 
E
N
D
I
N
G
 
0
2
/
2
9
/
2
0
2
4

%
 
B
D
G
T

U
S
E
D

2
0
2
3
-
2
4

A
M
E
N
D
E
D
 
B
U
D
G
E
T

Y
T
D
 
B
A
L
A
N
C
E

0
2
/
2
8
/
2
0
2
3

N
O
R
M
 
(
A
B
N
O
R
M
)

Y
T
D
 
B
A
L
A
N
C
E

0
2
/
2
9
/
2
0
2
4

N
O
R
M
 
(
A
B
N
O
R
M
)

A
C
T
I
V
I
T
Y
 
F
O
R

M
O
N
T
H
 
0
2
/
2
8
/
2
3

I
N
C
R
 
(
D
E
C
R
)

A
C
T
I
V
I
T
Y
 
F
O
R

M
O
N
T
H
 
0
2
/
2
9
/
2
4

I
N
C
R
 
(
D
E
C
R
)

D
E
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N

G
L
 
N
U
M
B
E
R

F
u
n
d
 
0
8
0
 
-
 
L
A
K
E
 
B
L
U
F
F
 
P
U
B
L
I
C
 
L
I
B
R
A
R
Y

E
x
p
e
n
d
i
t
u
r
e
s

7
4
.
3
5
 

1
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

6
,
7
9
8
.
1
4
 

8
,
9
2
2
.
5
0
 

6
9
3
.
7
6
 

7
7
2
.
9
9
 

J
U
V
E
N
I
L
E
 
N
O
N
-
F
I
C
T
I
O
N

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
4
0
0

8
2
.
7
5
 

8
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

7
,
8
3
6
.
1
7
 

6
,
6
1
9
.
7
3
 

7
8
8
.
4
0
 

5
3
0
.
9
3
 

P
I
C
T
U
R
E
 
B
O
O
K
S
,
 
R
E
A
D
E
R
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
4
1
0

7
6
.
5
8
 

8
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

4
,
2
2
1
.
6
9
 

6
,
1
2
6
.
2
1
 

5
1
2
.
7
2
 

4
7
0
.
8
5
 

J
U
V
E
N
I
L
E
 
F
I
C
T
I
O
N

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
4
2
0

6
7
.
7
2
 

3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

4
8
2
.
6
4
 

2
,
0
3
1
.
4
9
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

J
U
V
E
N
I
L
E
 
A
U
D
I
O
-
V
I
S
U
A
L

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
4
3
0

8
9
.
1
3
 

1
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
,
3
7
8
.
0
0
 

1
,
3
3
7
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

J
U
V
E
N
I
L
E
 
E
-
R
E
F
E
R
E
N
C
E

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
4
4
0

2
4
.
0
1
 

3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

4
5
3
.
3
5
 

7
2
0
.
4
0
 

5
0
.
7
8
 

4
1
.
9
9
 

J
U
V
E
N
I
L
E
 
K
I
T
S
 
&
 
 
D
E
V
I
C
E
S
 

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
4
4
5

7
2
.
1
5
 

2
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
,
7
8
3
.
3
1
 

1
,
8
0
3
.
7
1
 

2
7
0
.
0
2
 

9
3
.
8
5
 

T
E
E
N
 
B
O
O
K
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
4
5
0

8
2
.
9
7
 

2
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
5
,
1
5
8
.
1
8
 

1
7
,
4
2
2
.
7
2
 

2
,
3
3
9
.
7
8
 

8
1
9
.
4
1
 

E
-
B
O
O
K
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
4
6
0

2
7
.
6
6
 

7
5
0
.
0
0
 

9
9
.
6
5
 

2
0
7
.
4
6
 

5
9
.
0
4
 

0
.
0
0
 

G
R
A
P
H
I
C
 
N
O
V
E
L
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
4
7
0

1
0
1
.
2
3
 

7
,
3
5
0
.
0
0
 

7
,
7
0
6
.
7
1
 

7
,
4
4
0
.
1
5
 

5
2
.
9
0
 

2
3
4
.
4
1
 

P
E
R
I
O
D
I
C
A
L
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
5
0
0

7
4
.
1
0
 

3
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 

2
,
6
3
0
.
6
5
 

2
,
5
9
3
.
5
1
 

1
3
9
.
9
8
 

6
5
.
8
9
 

V
I
D
E
O
 
G
A
M
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
5
1
0

2
2
.
6
6
 

2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

7
3
4
.
2
8
 

4
5
3
.
1
9
 

5
2
.
0
6
 

1
9
.
1
9
 

T
R
E
N
D
I
N
G
 
T
I
T
L
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
5
2
0

5
3
.
6
3
 

1
5
,
5
5
0
.
0
0
 

6
,
1
8
1
.
9
0
 

8
,
3
3
9
.
2
5
 

1
4
.
9
9
 

1
9
.
9
9
 

P
A
T
R
O
N
 
&
 
S
T
A
F
F
 
S
O
F
T
W
A
R
E

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
6
0
0

9
0
.
0
0
 

2
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

2
2
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 

2
2
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

L
I
B
R
A
R
Y
 
A
U
T
O
M
A
T
I
O
N
 
S
O
F
T
W
A
R
E

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
6
1
0

7
7
.
3
0
 

1
8
2
,
8
5
0
.
0
0
 

1
2
8
,
3
5
2
.
9
0
 

1
4
1
,
3
4
4
.
6
7
 

8
,
0
4
8
.
2
3
 

6
,
8
2
4
.
7
3
 

L
I
B
R
A
R
Y
 
M
A
T
E
R
I
A
L
S

C
A
P
I
T
A
L
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
S

5
7
.
5
3
 

6
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
4
,
4
1
9
.
7
4
 

3
,
4
5
1
.
5
7
 

6
,
9
4
4
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

L
I
B
R
A
R
Y
 
F
U
R
N
I
S
H
I
N
G
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
5
0
1
0
0

2
6
9
.
6
7
 

6
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

1
6
,
1
8
0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

E
X
T
 
B
U
I
L
D
I
N
G
 
I
M
P
R
O
V
E
M
E
N
T
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
5
1
2
0
0

1
3
7
.
0
7
 

1
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

1
7
,
4
5
5
.
1
4
 

1
3
,
7
0
6
.
8
3
 

0
.
0
0
 

1
0
5
.
8
8
 

C
O
M
P
U
T
E
R
 
E
Q
U
I
P
M
E
N
T

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
5
8
1
0
0

3
.
4
0
 

1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

3
3
2
.
2
2
 

3
3
.
9
9
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

O
T
H
E
R
 
E
Q
U
I
P
M
E
N
T

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
5
8
2
7
0

1
4
5
.
1
0
 

2
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

3
2
,
2
0
7
.
1
0
 

3
3
,
3
7
2
.
3
9
 

6
,
9
4
4
.
0
0
 

1
0
5
.
8
8
 

C
A
P
I
T
A
L
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
S

C
O
N
T
I
N
G
E
N
C
Y

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

C
O
N
T
I
N
G
E
N
C
Y

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
7
0
0
0
0

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

C
O
N
T
I
N
G
E
N
C
Y

T
R
A
N
S
F
E
R
 
T
O
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
F
U
N
D

0
.
0
0
 

2
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

I
N
T
E
R
F
U
N
D
 
T
R
A
N
S
F
E
R
 
T
O
 
R
E
S
E
R
V
E

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
7
1
0
0
0

0
.
0
0
 

2
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

T
R
A
N
S
F
E
R
 
T
O
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
F
U
N
D

8
7
.
1
3
 

1
,
1
5
8
,
7
0
7
.
0
0
 

8
6
6
,
7
0
7
.
5
1
 

1
,
0
0
9
,
6
0
9
.
5
7
 

8
2
,
3
5
7
.
2
0
 

9
6
,
8
4
0
.
0
2
 

T
o
t
a
l
 
D
e
p
t
 
6
0
3
 
-
 
L
I
B
R
A
R
Y
 
A
D
M
I
N
I
S
T
R
A
T
I
O
N

8
7
.
1
3
 

1
,
1
5
8
,
7
0
7
.
0
0
 

8
6
6
,
7
0
7
.
5
1
 

1
,
0
0
9
,
6
0
9
.
5
7
 

8
2
,
3
5
7
.
2
0
 

9
6
,
8
4
0
.
0
2
 

T
O
T
A
L
 
E
X
P
E
N
D
I
T
U
R
E
S

1
,
5
8
1
,
5
1

1
4
.
0
0
 

2
1
3
,
7
5
3
.
6
3
 

2
2
1
,
4
1
1
.
9
5
 

(
7
5
,
3
9
3
.
0
1
)

(
9
2
,
1
8
4
.
3
4
)

N
E
T
 
O
F
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
S
 
&
 
E
X
P
E
N
D
I
T
U
R
E
S

8
7
.
1
3
 

1
,
1
5
8
,
7
0
7
.
0
0
 

8
6
6
,
7
0
7
.
5
1
 

1
,
0
0
9
,
6
0
9
.
5
7
 

8
2
,
3
5
7
.
2
0
 

9
6
,
8
4
0
.
0
2
 

T
O
T
A
L
 
E
X
P
E
N
D
I
T
U
R
E
S

1
0
6
.
2
4
 

1
,
1
5
8
,
7
2
1
.
0
0
 

1
,
0
8
0
,
4
6
1
.
1
4
 

1
,
2
3
1
,
0
2
1
.
5
2
 

6
,
9
6
4
.
1
9
 

4
,
6
5
5
.
6
8
 

T
O
T
A
L
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
S

F
u
n
d
 
0
8
0
 
-
 
L
A
K
E
 
B
L
U
F
F
 
P
U
B
L
I
C
 
L
I
B
R
A
R
Y
:



R
E
V
E
N
U
E
 
A
N
D
 
E
X
P
E
N
D
I
T
U
R
E
 
R
E
P
O
R
T
 
F
O
R
 
L
A
K
E
 
B
L
U
F
F
 
V
I
L
L
A
G
E

4
/
5

P
a
g
e
:
 

0
3
/
1
7
/
2
0
2
4
 
1
2
:
0
8
 
P
M

U
s
e
r
:
 
r
g
r
a
s
s
i

D
B
:
 
L
a
k
e
 
B
l
u
f
f

P
E
R
I
O
D
 
E
N
D
I
N
G
 
0
2
/
2
9
/
2
0
2
4

%
 
B
D
G
T

U
S
E
D

2
0
2
3
-
2
4

A
M
E
N
D
E
D
 
B
U
D
G
E
T

Y
T
D
 
B
A
L
A
N
C
E

0
2
/
2
8
/
2
0
2
3

N
O
R
M
 
(
A
B
N
O
R
M
)

Y
T
D
 
B
A
L
A
N
C
E

0
2
/
2
9
/
2
0
2
4

N
O
R
M
 
(
A
B
N
O
R
M
)

A
C
T
I
V
I
T
Y
 
F
O
R

M
O
N
T
H
 
0
2
/
2
8
/
2
3

I
N
C
R
 
(
D
E
C
R
)

A
C
T
I
V
I
T
Y
 
F
O
R

M
O
N
T
H
 
0
2
/
2
9
/
2
4

I
N
C
R
 
(
D
E
C
R
)

D
E
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N

G
L
 
N
U
M
B
E
R

F
u
n
d
 
0
8
2
 
-
 
L
I
B
R
A
R
Y
 
G
R
A
N
T
S
 
&
 
G
I
F
T
S
 
F
U
N
D

R
e
v
e
n
u
e
s

D
e
p
t
 
3
0
0
 
-
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E

I
N
T
E
R
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

G
R
A
N
T
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E

0
8
2
-
3
0
0
-
3
6
2
0
0

1
0
0
.
0
0
 

8
,
2
8
4
.
0
0
 

8
,
2
8
3
.
6
0
 

8
,
2
8
3
.
6
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

S
T
A
T
E
 
P
E
R
 
C
A
P
I
T
A
 
G
R
A
N
T

0
8
2
-
3
0
0
-
3
6
2
6
3

1
0
0
.
0
0
 

8
,
2
8
4
.
0
0
 

8
,
2
8
3
.
6
0
 

8
,
2
8
3
.
6
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

I
N
T
E
R
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L

M
I
S
C
E
L
L
A
N
E
O
U
S

3
,
2
0
1
.
8
8
 

9
8
.
0
0
 

2
,
0
0
6
.
7
5
 

3
,
1
3
7
.
8
4
 

2
.
5
6
 

4
.
9
5
 

U
N
R
E
S
T
R
I
C
T
E
D
 
D
O
N
A
T
I
O
N
S
/
C
O
N
T
R
I
B

0
8
2
-
3
0
0
-
3
8
3
0
0

5
4
.
3
1
 

6
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 

9
0
,
8
3
3
.
5
7
 

3
5
,
3
0
2
.
8
1
 

1
9
.
7
8
 

0
.
0
0
 

R
E
S
T
R
I
C
T
E
D
 
D
O
N
A
T
I
O
N
S

0
8
2
-
3
0
0
-
3
8
3
1
5

5
9
.
0
5
 

6
5
,
0
9
8
.
0
0
 

9
2
,
8
4
0
.
3
2
 

3
8
,
4
4
0
.
6
5
 

2
2
.
3
4
 

4
.
9
5
 

M
I
S
C
E
L
L
A
N
E
O
U
S

I
N
V
E
S
T
M
E
N
T
 
I
N
C
O
M
E

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

I
N
T
E
R
E
S
T
 
E
A
R
N
I
N
G
S

0
8
2
-
3
0
0
-
3
7
5
0
0

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

I
N
V
E
S
T
M
E
N
T
 
I
N
C
O
M
E

6
3
.
6
7
 

7
3
,
3
8
2
.
0
0
 

1
0
1
,
1
2
3
.
9
2
 

4
6
,
7
2
4
.
2
5
 

2
2
.
3
4
 

4
.
9
5
 

T
o
t
a
l
 
D
e
p
t
 
3
0
0
 
-
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E

6
3
.
6
7
 

7
3
,
3
8
2
.
0
0
 

1
0
1
,
1
2
3
.
9
2
 

4
6
,
7
2
4
.
2
5
 

2
2
.
3
4
 

4
.
9
5
 

T
O
T
A
L
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
S

E
x
p
e
n
d
i
t
u
r
e
s

D
e
p
t
 
6
0
3
 
-
 
L
I
B
R
A
R
Y
 
A
D
M
I
N
I
S
T
R
A
T
I
O
N

P
R
O
G
R
A
M
S

6
3
.
0
2
 

8
,
2
8
4
.
0
0
 

4
,
6
7
3
.
4
8
 

5
,
2
2
0
.
8
8
 

1
,
2
1
9
.
2
9
 

7
6
2
.
3
0
 

P
E
R
 
C
A
P
I
T
A
L
 
G
R
A
N
T
 
E
X
P
E
N
D
I
T
U
R
E
S

0
8
2
-
6
0
3
-
4
4
8
1
0

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

M
I
S
C
.
 
G
R
A
N
T
 
E
X
P
E
N
D
I
T
U
R
E
S

0
8
2
-
6
0
3
-
4
4
8
2
5

6
3
.
0
2
 

8
,
2
8
4
.
0
0
 

4
,
6
7
3
.
4
8
 

5
,
2
2
0
.
8
8
 

1
,
2
1
9
.
2
9
 

7
6
2
.
3
0
 

P
R
O
G
R
A
M
S

U
n
c
l
a
s
s
i
f
i
e
d

5
8
.
2
8
 

6
5
,
0
9
8
.
0
0
 

8
7
,
8
8
7
.
4
1
 

3
7
,
9
4
2
.
2
5
 

2
6
8
.
4
9
 

2
5
5
.
0
8
 

U
S
E
 
O
F
 
D
O
N
A
T
I
O
N
S
/
T
E
M
P
O
R
A
R
Y
 
E
X
P

0
8
2
-
6
0
3
-
9
9
9
9
9

5
8
.
2
8
 

6
5
,
0
9
8
.
0
0
 

8
7
,
8
8
7
.
4
1
 

3
7
,
9
4
2
.
2
5
 

2
6
8
.
4
9
 

2
5
5
.
0
8
 

U
n
c
l
a
s
s
i
f
i
e
d

5
8
.
8
2
 

7
3
,
3
8
2
.
0
0
 

9
2
,
5
6
0
.
8
9
 

4
3
,
1
6
3
.
1
3
 

1
,
4
8
7
.
7
8
 

1
,
0
1
7
.
3
8
 

T
o
t
a
l
 
D
e
p
t
 
6
0
3
 
-
 
L
I
B
R
A
R
Y
 
A
D
M
I
N
I
S
T
R
A
T
I
O
N

5
8
.
8
2
 

7
3
,
3
8
2
.
0
0
 

9
2
,
5
6
0
.
8
9
 

4
3
,
1
6
3
.
1
3
 

1
,
4
8
7
.
7
8
 

1
,
0
1
7
.
3
8
 

T
O
T
A
L
 
E
X
P
E
N
D
I
T
U
R
E
S

1
0
0
.
0
0
 

0
.
0
0
 

8
,
5
6
3
.
0
3
 

3
,
5
6
1
.
1
2
 

(
1
,
4
6
5
.
4
4
)

(
1
,
0
1
2
.
4
3
)

N
E
T
 
O
F
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
S
 
&
 
E
X
P
E
N
D
I
T
U
R
E
S

5
8
.
8
2
 

7
3
,
3
8
2
.
0
0
 

9
2
,
5
6
0
.
8
9
 

4
3
,
1
6
3
.
1
3
 

1
,
4
8
7
.
7
8
 

1
,
0
1
7
.
3
8
 

T
O
T
A
L
 
E
X
P
E
N
D
I
T
U
R
E
S

6
3
.
6
7
 

7
3
,
3
8
2
.
0
0
 

1
0
1
,
1
2
3
.
9
2
 

4
6
,
7
2
4
.
2
5
 

2
2
.
3
4
 

4
.
9
5
 

T
O
T
A
L
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
S

F
u
n
d
 
0
8
2
 
-
 
L
I
B
R
A
R
Y
 
G
R
A
N
T
S
 
&
 
G
I
F
T
S
 
F
U
N
D
:

8
5
.
4
5
 

1
,
2
3
2
,
0
8
9
.
0
0
 

9
5
9
,
2
6
8
.
4
0
 

1
,
0
5
2
,
7
7
2
.
7
0
 

8
3
,
8
4
4
.
9
8
 

9
7
,
8
5
7
.
4
0
 

T
O
T
A
L
 
E
X
P
E
N
D
I
T
U
R
E
S
 
-
 
A
L
L
 
F
U
N
D
S

1
0
3
.
7
0
 

1
,
2
3
2
,
1
0
3
.
0
0
 

1
,
1
8
1
,
5
8
5
.
0
6
 

1
,
2
7
7
,
7
4
5
.
7
7
 

6
,
9
8
6
.
5
3
 

4
,
6
6
0
.
6
3
 

T
O
T
A
L
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
S
 
-
 
A
L
L
 
F
U
N
D
S



R
E
V
E
N
U
E
 
A
N
D
 
E
X
P
E
N
D
I
T
U
R
E
 
R
E
P
O
R
T
 
F
O
R
 
L
A
K
E
 
B
L
U
F
F
 
V
I
L
L
A
G
E

5
/
5

P
a
g
e
:
 

0
3
/
1
7
/
2
0
2
4
 
1
2
:
0
8
 
P
M

U
s
e
r
:
 
r
g
r
a
s
s
i

D
B
:
 
L
a
k
e
 
B
l
u
f
f

P
E
R
I
O
D
 
E
N
D
I
N
G
 
0
2
/
2
9
/
2
0
2
4

%
 
B
D
G
T

U
S
E
D

2
0
2
3
-
2
4

A
M
E
N
D
E
D
 
B
U
D
G
E
T

Y
T
D
 
B
A
L
A
N
C
E

0
2
/
2
8
/
2
0
2
3

N
O
R
M
 
(
A
B
N
O
R
M
)

Y
T
D
 
B
A
L
A
N
C
E

0
2
/
2
9
/
2
0
2
4

N
O
R
M
 
(
A
B
N
O
R
M
)

A
C
T
I
V
I
T
Y
 
F
O
R

M
O
N
T
H
 
0
2
/
2
8
/
2
3

I
N
C
R
 
(
D
E
C
R
)

A
C
T
I
V
I
T
Y
 
F
O
R

M
O
N
T
H
 
0
2
/
2
9
/
2
4

I
N
C
R
 
(
D
E
C
R
)

D
E
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N

G
L
 
N
U
M
B
E
R

1
,
6
0
6
,
9
5

1
4
.
0
0
 

2
2
2
,
3
1
6
.
6
6
 

2
2
4
,
9
7
3
.
0
7
 

(
7
6
,
8
5
8
.
4
5
)

(
9
3
,
1
9
6
.
7
7
)

N
E
T
 
O
F
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
S
 
&
 
E
X
P
E
N
D
I
T
U
R
E
S



C
H
E
C
K
 
D
I
S
B
U
R
S
E
M
E
N
T
 
R
E
P
O
R
T
 
F
O
R
 
V
I
L
L
A
G
E
 
O
F
 
L
A
K
E
 
B
L
U
F
F

3
/
4

P
a
g
e

0
3
/
1
7
/
2
0
2
4
 
1
2
:
0
5
 
P
M

U
s
e
r
:
 
r
g
r
a
s
s
i

D
B
:
 
L
a
k
e
 
B
l
u
f
f

C
H
E
C
K
 
D
A
T
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
0
2
/
2
1
/
2
0
2
4
 
-
 
0
3
/
1
9
/
2
0
2
4

B
a
n
k
s
:
 
L
I
B
C
K

A
m
o
u
n
t

G
L
 
#

D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

P
a
y
e
e

C
h
e
c
k
 
#

B
a
n
k

C
h
e
c
k
 
D
a
t
e

8
1
9
.
4
1
 

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
4
6
0

E
-
B
O
O
K
S
/
E
-
A
U
D
I
O
B
O
O
K
S

O
V
E
R
D
R
I
V
E
 
,
 
I
N
C

1
5
9
6
3

L
I
B
C

0
3
/
1
3
/
2
0
2
4

7
6
2
.
3
0
 

0
8
2
-
6
0
3
-
4
4
8
1
0

P
E
R
 
C
A
P
I
T
A
 
G
R
A
N
T
/
C
O
S
T
 
P
E
R
 
C
I
R
C
 
F
E
B
R
U
A

1
5
9
6
3

1
,
5
8
1
.
7
1
 

1
8
.
9
9
 

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
5
0
0

P
E
R
I
O
D
I
C
A
L
S
/
L
A
K
E
 
F
O
R
E
S
T
E
R
 
R
E
N
E
W
A
L
 
T
H
R

P
I
O
N
E
E
R
 
P
R
E
S
S

1
5
9
6
4

L
I
B
C

0
3
/
1
3
/
2
0
2
4

3
,
2
5
0
.
0
0
 

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
1
0
0
0

B
U
I
L
D
I
N
G
 
M
A
I
N
T
E
N
A
N
C
E
/
A
I
R
 
Q
U
A
L
I
T
Y
 
T
E
S
T

P
R
I
O
R
I
T
Y
 
E
N
E
R
G
Y
 
L
L
C

1
5
9
6
5

L
I
B
C

0
3
/
1
3
/
2
0
2
4

7
.
0
3
 

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
5
5
0

O
F
F
I
C
E
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S
/
S
T
A
M
P

Q
U
I
L
L
 
L
L
C

1
5
9
6
6

L
I
B
C

0
3
/
1
3
/
2
0
2
4

5
7
.
1
8
 

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
6
6
8

T
E
C
H
N
I
C
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S
/
S
T
A
M
P
S

1
5
9
6
6

6
4
.
2
1
 

3
4
.
0
0
 

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
5
0
0

P
E
R
I
O
D
I
C
A
L
S
/
U
S
A
 
T
O
D
A
Y
 
F
O
R
 
A
P
R
I
L
 
2
0
2
4

U
S
A
 
T
O
D
A
Y

1
5
9
6
7

L
I
B
C

0
3
/
1
3
/
2
0
2
4

3
1
0
.
3
3
 

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
2
3
0

U
T
I
L
I
T
I
E
S
/
W
A
T
E
R
 
B
I
L
L
 
 
1
1
/
1
4
/
2
0
2
3
 
T
O
 
0

V
I
L
L
A
G
E
 
O
F
 
L
A
K
E
 
B
L
U
F
F

1
5
9
6
8

L
I
B
C

0
3
/
1
3
/
2
0
2
4

2
,
1
4
0
.
3
2
 

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
4
1
0

P
R
I
N
T
I
N
G
/
S
P
R
I
N
G
 
2
0
2
4
 
N
E
W
S
L
E
T
T
E
R

V
O
G
U
E
 
P
R
I
N
T
E
R
S

1
5
9
6
9

L
I
B
C

0
3
/
1
3
/
2
0
2
4

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
1
9
.
4
1
 

E
-
B
O
O
K
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
4
6
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
3
.
8
5
 

T
E
E
N
 
B
O
O
K
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
4
5
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
1
.
9
9
 

J
U
V
E
N
I
L
E
 
K
I
T
S
 
&
 
 
D
E
V
I
C
E
S
 

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
4
4
5

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
7
0
.
8
5
 

J
U
V
E
N
I
L
E
 
F
I
C
T
I
O
N

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
4
2
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
3
0
.
9
3
 

P
I
C
T
U
R
E
 
B
O
O
K
S
,
 
R
E
A
D
E
R
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
4
1
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
7
2
.
9
9
 

J
U
V
E
N
I
L
E
 
N
O
N
-
F
I
C
T
I
O
N

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
4
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
4
5
.
3
5
 

A
D
U
L
T
 
R
E
F
E
R
E
N
C
E
/
E
-
R
E
F
E
R

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
2
2
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
7
4
.
5
9
 

A
D
U
L
T
 
A
U
D
I
O
 
V
I
S
U
A
L
 
M
A
T
E
R
I
A
L

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
2
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
7
.
8
4
 

A
D
U
L
T
 
L
A
R
G
E
 
P
R
I
N
T
 
M
A
T
E
R
I
A
L

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
1
1
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
6
7
.
1
2
 

A
D
U
L
T
 
F
I
C
T
I
O
N
 
B
O
O
K
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
1
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
1
7
0
.
3
3
 

A
D
U
L
T
 
N
O
N
-
F
I
C
T
I
O
N
 
B
O
O
K
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
0
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
3
.
9
6
 

J
U
V
E
N
I
L
E
 
P
R
O
G
R
A
M
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
7
2
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
6
.
9
9
 

A
D
U
L
T
 
P
R
O
G
R
A
M
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
7
1
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
6
.
5
1
 

H
O
S
P
I
T
A
L
I
T
Y
 
P
R
O
G
R
A
M
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
7
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
5
0
.
4
7
 

T
E
C
H
N
I
C
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
6
6
8

 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
5
6
0
.
0
0
 

M
A
I
N
T
E
N
A
N
C
E
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S
-
B
U
I
L
D
I
N
G

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
6
6
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
3
.
3
5
 

O
F
F
I
C
E
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
5
5
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
1
7
0
.
3
1
 

P
R
I
N
T
I
N
G
/
E
-
N
E
W
S
L
E
T
T
E
R

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
4
1
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
6
6
.
4
0
 

P
O
S
T
A
G
E

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
3
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
2
3
4
.
4
6
 

U
T
I
L
I
T
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
3
2
3
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
0
1
.
2
5
 

L
E
G
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
1
3
5
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
8
0
7
.
6
9
 

O
T
H
E
R
 
P
R
O
F
E
S
S
I
O
N
A
L
/
C
O
N
T
R
A
C
T
U
A
L

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
1
3
1
4

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
0
9
.
2
9
 

C
O
P
I
E
R
 
M
A
I
N
T
E
N
A
N
C
E
/
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
1
3
1
3

 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
9
1
2
.
0
0
 

M
A
I
N
T
E
N
A
N
C
E
-
B
U
I
L
D
I
N
G

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
1
0
0
0

-
-
-
 
G
L
 
T
O
T
A
L
S
 
-
-
-
 

2
8
,
8
9
4
.
6
7
 

T
O
T
A
L
 
O
F
 
2
9
 
C
H
E
C
K
S

T
O
T
A
L
 
-
 
A
L
L
 
F
U
N
D
S



C
H
E
C
K
 
D
I
S
B
U
R
S
E
M
E
N
T
 
R
E
P
O
R
T
 
F
O
R
 
V
I
L
L
A
G
E
 
O
F
 
L
A
K
E
 
B
L
U
F
F

4
/
4

P
a
g
e

0
3
/
1
7
/
2
0
2
4
 
1
2
:
0
5
 
P
M

U
s
e
r
:
 
r
g
r
a
s
s
i

D
B
:
 
L
a
k
e
 
B
l
u
f
f

C
H
E
C
K
 
D
A
T
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
0
2
/
2
1
/
2
0
2
4
 
-
 
0
3
/
1
9
/
2
0
2
4

B
a
n
k
s
:
 
L
I
B
C
K

A
m
o
u
n
t

G
L
 
#

D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

P
a
y
e
e

C
h
e
c
k
 
#

B
a
n
k

C
h
e
c
k
 
D
a
t
e

 
 
 
 
 
2
8
,
8
9
4
.
6
7
 

T
O
T
A
L

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
5
5
.
0
8
 

U
S
E
 
O
F
 
D
O
N
A
T
I
O
N
S
/
T
E
M
P
O
R
A
R
Y
 
E
X
P

0
8
2
-
6
0
3
-
9
9
9
9
9

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
6
2
.
3
0
 

P
E
R
 
C
A
P
I
T
A
L
 
G
R
A
N
T
 
E
X
P
E
N
D
I
T
U
R
E
S

0
8
2
-
6
0
3
-
4
4
8
1
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
5
.
8
8
 

C
O
M
P
U
T
E
R
 
E
Q
U
I
P
M
E
N
T

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
5
8
1
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
4
.
0
0
 

M
I
S
C
E
L
L
A
N
E
O
U
S
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
6
1
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
9
.
9
9
 

P
A
T
R
O
N
 
&
 
S
T
A
F
F
 
S
O
F
T
W
A
R
E

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
6
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
9
.
1
9
 

T
R
E
N
D
I
N
G
 
T
I
T
L
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
5
2
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
5
.
8
9
 

V
I
D
E
O
 
G
A
M
E
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
5
1
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
3
4
.
4
1
 

P
E
R
I
O
D
I
C
A
L
S

0
8
0
-
6
0
3
-
4
5
5
0
0



 

 

 

 

March 13, 2024 

AGREEMENT FOR A STRATEGIC FACILITY PLAN 

LAKE BLUFF PUBLIC LIBRARY 

between and 

Board of Library Trustees of the Lake Bluff Public 

Library of Lake County, Illinois 

Engberg Anderson, Inc. 

123 E Scranton Av 8618 West Catalpa Avenue, Suite 1116 

Lake Bluff, IL 60044 Chicago, IL 60656 

Attention: Renee Grassi, Director  

Engberg Anderson Project No. 243729 

Dear Renee, 

Engberg Anderson is pleased to submit this proposal for a Strategic Facility Plan.  This proposal is based on our 

current understanding of the project.  We ask that you review the scope, schedule and fee proposed and 

identify any concerns or questions in this regard.  

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING 

The Library is seeking a Strategic Facilities Plan (SFP) to evaluate options related to (1) maintaining, (2) improving 

in various ways, and (3) preserving the opportunity to expand the facility at some point in the future.  The 

Library has yet to make a determination as to the best approach to overcoming a presumed shortfall in quantity 

and quality of space in the current facility.  While recognizing the value of previous planning efforts, this SFP is to 

evaluate the strategic space issues with fresh eyes, develop a tiered approach addressing those needs, and 

provide comparative cost and performance data to assist the library in determining the best approach to solving 

the space needs.   

A series of grouped investigations and options is envisioned to include: 

1. Tier 1 Projects – Address Aging Mechanical Systems and Accessibility 

a. Address aging HVAC and electrical system components serving the building. 

b. Address accessibility issues at the building entry, restrooms, and mezzanine 

2. Tier 2 Projects – Do More with the Existing Space: Service Enhancements Driven by Space 

Improvements 

a. Improve/relocate staff workroom 

b. Move Community Room 

c. Move public service point(s) 

d. Improve Children’s Library 

e. Do something with the Museum 

f. Enhance technology within the building 

3. Tier 3 Projects – Review of Expansion Potential and potential limitations based on the 

recommendations made in the Tier 1 and Tier 2 groups of projects. 



 

 Page 2 

METHODOLOGY 

Engberg Anderson proposes to meet this need by working with the Library to complete a multi-step process 

leading to a Strategic Facility Plan.  Based on the project understanding we propose a series of several on-site 

workshops.  The workshops are envisioned to include sessions with the library’s management team, key staff, 

and trustees as appropriate to the stage of the project.  Public engagement can be incorporated at key points in 

the process to set the stage, gather insights into needs and expectations, solicit feedback on various options, 

and build awareness and support.  We anticipate 4 engagement sessions as part of this process. 

Part 1 Programming: Identify strategic space needs to serve the community for the next 10 years  

We will conduct a series of discussions with the management team to further the list of issues included above.  

Various exercises will be used to help imagine and prioritize a range of possible improvements.  These exercises 

may include “Keep, Toss, Create”, “Semantic Differentials”, “Headlines”, or “Pictures from the Future” to help 

cast a wide net and prioritize the concepts.  The Library’s previous planning efforts and recent customer 

comments will be actively used as guides to the discussion. 

• Public Sessions as deemed appropriate by the Library (arranged in virtual and in-person forms to 

support broad participation) 

• Staff Sessions (arranged to support participation while maintaining operations) 

• Museum Session 

• Board Session 

The goal of this activity is to define community specific service-based space typologies, sizes & quantities 

Utilizing the results of the Investigations portion of the study, we will formulate a series of space typologies and 

sizes to support various parallel, sequential and independent or dedicated use patterns that fit the library’s 

current service model and evolution as the needs of the community change.  This will involve discussion of 

broad trends as well as the local experience with each. Our approach is to acknowledge the relationship of space 

to patrons: 

People  Needs  Services  Spaces 

 
We will use these discussions to formulate a list of public and staff spaces to support the Library in meeting its 

mission.  Our typical Program of Spaces defines library space use in seven major space categories: 

1. Arrival | Enter, Orient, Greet, Exhibit. 

2. Places to Gather | Multi-purpose, large group, flexible, connected. 

3. Places to Get Things | Showplace for curated collections of various materials and objects 

4. Places to Do Things | Individual and small or medium group spaces for hands-on learning, social 

learning, innovation, content creation, incubation. 

5. Special Spaces | Community specific spaces for the needs of your community. Literacy, food literacy, 

artist in residence, social services access, economic development, visitor center are examples from other 

libraries.  “Room of Requirement” to support pop-up services, emerging trends, special needs user 

populations. 

6. Staff Spaces | Flexible and scalable to respond to changes in services, expertise, work styles, and staffing 



 

 Page 3 

shifts, from materials handling to collaborative customer services. 

7. Building Support Spaces | Future-friendly infrastructure to support continuing evolution in the services. 

  

Places to Browse, Discover, Discern Places to Sit, Read, Contemplate 
 

  

Places for Active Learning Places for Group Learning 
 

  

Places to Engage Technology Places to Engage Staff 

This is the translation of the Strategic Plan into actionable steps for the renovation or expansion of the facility. It 

will anticipate the continuing impact of patron needs that are diverse, dynamic, and evolving; the general impact 

of technology.  It will recommend furniture, fixtures, and equipment to support these needs. 



 

 Page 4 

Part 2 - Facility Effectiveness Assessment 

An evaluation of existing space will be a key component of the study.  The spaces will be evaluated twice – once 

in preparation for the initial discussions – and a second time following those discussion to refine the evaluation 

in light of the newly framed objectives.  Along with tours of the building, we envision a conversation with 

various members of the Library’s management team to further our observations of staff and patron behavior. 

1. We will review the existing layout, condition, character and effectiveness of the library building to 

determine the how the current facility can be better adapted to emerging and traditional service 

patterns.  The evaluation will include flexibility, technology, programming spaces for all age groups, 

public library trends such as hands-on and collaborative learning, special collections, genealogical 

research and preserving local historical archives, and other aspects of the library’s role as a community 

center. 

a. Customer Mapping 

We will map customer use of the building an a typical day and index these to various customer 

satisfaction comments collected by the Library.  We will look for patterns of use by various groups 

and identifying when and where parallel or adjacent uses can be compatible or in conflict.  We will 

look at utilization of various seating types and environments. 

   

10 am Use Pattern 6 pm Use Pattern 

Sample Mapping Diagrams Illustrating Use Patterns at Different Times of Day 

b. Space Utilization Diagrams 

We will diagram spaces that have limited utility or are not meeting potential based on location, 

access, technology, shape or other physical attribute. 

   

Sample Space Use Diagrams (Barrington Area IL Library) 

 

We will assess how well each facility performs in terms of essential library planning parameters: 



 

 Page 5 

• Site organization. • Building zoning / adjacencies  

• Collection organization • Technology integration 

• Observation • Control 

• Adaptability • Expandability 

• Security • Way finding   

• Self-help • Accessibility 

• Materials processing • Acoustics 

• Lighting • Image 

2. In the staff zone, shared service elements and workflow that support the library will be considered to 

maximize operational effectiveness and to repurpose duplicative space and create more or more 

efficient public or staff zones. 

Part 3 - Strategic Facility Concept Definition and Evaluation  

Depending on the results of the Programming and the Facility Effectiveness Assessment, a number of 

possibilities may arise.  This portion of the process will enable the Library to understand how to get from what 

is in place to what is needed. This level of detail often suffices for most libraries and is much more rigorous 

than generic and rule of thumb and use of cost indexes.  This part consists of multiple activities including 

visualizing improvements suggested by the Facility Effectiveness Assessment. 

We do not prejudge and allow the Needs Assessment and Facility Effectiveness Assessment guide the definition 

of which options need to be included in this portion of the study.  We approach each option with the same “get 

as much as you can for the money” and “what if this was the only option” mentality.  Only once the options are 

defined do we work with you to compare options and define a recommendation.  

Define Renovation Options 

It may be appropriate to repurpose various spaces to take better advantage of their size, location, character 

or other attribute.  Various “work with furniture as much as possible” and “stay within the existing building 

shell” concepts will be considered. 

 
Sample concept diagrams 

Define Remodeling Options 

It may be better to adjust the physical attributes of a space to meet the performance goals associated with a 

particular service.  This is envisioned as more complex set of changes and might include moving walls, 

changing ceiling heights, relocating portions of the mechanical or electrical infrastructure, or reconfiguring 

spaces entirely.  The recommended near-term improvements would be arranged to balance the immediate 

needs with a future friendly remodeling concept.  Any such assessment would be supported with various 

diagrams, an assets and liabilities matrix, and a cost model. 

Define Expansion Options 

The nature of the space use and need may be beyond what can be addressed by shifting uses or improving 

space attributes.  We will assess the feasibility of expanding the existing building (or buildings depending on 



 

 Page 6 

the early findings).  The recommended near-term improvements would be arranged to balance the 

immediate needs with a future friendly expansion concept.  Any such assessment would be supported with 

various diagrams, an assets and liabilities matrix, and a cost model. 

 
Sample Expansion Diagram (Bettendorf IA Public Library) 

 
Sample Rendering (Lake Bluff IL Public Library) 

Compare Options 

The various concepts generated in early discussions will be tested against the Library’s mission, priorities, 

and fiscal resources.  An assets and liabilities matrix will be prepared to define an objective performance 

level for each concept. 

Part 4 – Cost Modeling 

A detailed, a la carte cost model will be prepared by an independent cost estimating consultant familiar with 

library renovations. We will frame this data for each concept.  Operational cost implications of each concept will 

be reviewed with the Library’s management team.  Cost Models will be grouped to fit with designated budgets. 



 

 Page 7 

 
Sample Summary Budget 

Part 5 – Implementation Strategies  

Based on the cost models and the elections made by the Library, we will organize immediate, intermediate and 

longer-term components of the plan into a sequence of discrete but related projects that may include 

repairs/replacements, improvements to the existing buildings, expansions, or other strategies as deemed 

appropriate.  

Likely groupings of improvements will be defined and indexed to likely funding strategies.  A recommended path 

to achieving the Library’s goals will be among multiple paths forward (all at once, phased improvements). 

 
Sample Multi-Phase Implementation Strategy Diagram 



 

 Page 8 

Part 6 - Recommendation  

With the testing completed, we will reconvene to identify a recommended course of action.  With the 

agreement of the trustees and management team, we will prepare a final report. 

SCHEDULE 

We propose to provide the normal scope of services within 150 days of receipt of authorization to proceed.  We 

will work with the Library to meet schedules for planning and funding. 

BUDGET 

The Library intends to implement the highest priority improvements using reserves and other funds. One goal of 

this study is to identify the scope of work that will fit with the resources available to the project. 

OWNER SUPPLIED INFORMATION 

The following are of use in preparing the drawings and cost models included in these cope of this agreement. 

• Existing building drawings from the original construction or any subsequent renovations 

• Environmental Assessments or Hazardous Materials Reports 

• Other condition studies 

• Contacts at various agencies having jurisdiction over the project 

FEE PROPOSAL 

Based on this understanding, we estimate the time and cost to complete the outlined services within an hourly, 

not to exceed fee of ................................................................................................................................... $18,500.  

This estimated fee is comprised of an initial allocation of fees: 

• Part 1 – Programming.................................................................................................$2,000 

• Part 2 – Facility Effectiveness Assessment  ................................................................$1,000 

• Part 3 – Strategic Facility Concept Diagrams and Evaluation .................................. $10,000 

• Part 4 – Cost Modeling (SMC Construction Services) .................................................$2,500 

• Part 5 – Implementation Strategies ...........................................................................$2,000 

• Part 6 – Recommendation & Report ..........................................................................$1,000 

As noted, each Strategic Facilities Plan needs to be tailored to the Library. We are happy to discuss your specifics 

and can adjust the scope and focus of the effort to meet your needs. 

Reimbursable Expenses 

In addition to the Fees, expenses incurred in the course of completing the work will be invoiced to the Client. 

Detailed records of reimbursable expenses shall be included in monthly invoices.   

Expense of professional liability insurance dedicated exclusively to this Project or the expense of additional 

insurance coverage or limits requested by the Owner in excess of that normally carried by the Architect. The 

Architect currently maintains the coverages identified in the Insurance Coverages Exhibit. 

Incidental expenses will be invoiced in accordance with the attached Reimbursable Expenses Exhibit. Incidental 

Expenses shall be invoiced at our cost. 

Progress Payments 

Invoices shall be submitted monthly and shall reflect the status of the work at the time of the invoice. 

Eric
Highlight



 

 Page 9 

Additional Services 

No additional service will be undertaken without a defined scope and written authorization. Any Additional 

Service will be itemized and invoiced against a limit established and agreed to in writing by both parties. Any 

additional service shall be invoiced separately to allow tracking of project expenses. 

ATTACHMENTS 

The following Exhibits are made part of this agreement: 

• Current Rate Schedule; Insurance Coverages; Expenses 

ACCEPTANCE 

We ask that an individual authorized to bind the Library to this agreement sign two copies of the agreement. This 

Acceptance covers the scope of work defined for Engberg Anderson and an hourly not to exceed fee of $18,500.  

Keep one for your records and return the second to us. We will begin work upon receipt of a signed copy. 

 

For For 

Engberg Anderson, Inc. Lake Bluff Public Library 

Signature:  Signature:  

Name: Joseph M. Huberty  Name:   

Title: Principal  Title:   

Date: March 13, 2024  Date:   

 

Copied Central File 

 EA File Name: \\Ea-Chi-Nas.Eadp.Com\Chicago-FS\PROJECTS\2024 3694\243729 Lake Bluff PLD SFP 

2024\0-BD & Marketing\Proposal\LBPL SFP 2024.Docx 

  



 

 Page 10 

Exhibits 

CURRENT RATE SCHEDULE 

Invoices for basic and additional services will be based on time charged to the project during the invoice period. 

The time will be invoiced based on the following schedule up to the limits specified for each service or phase of 

the project. 

Category Hourly rate Category Hourly rate 

Principal $165 Senior Interior Designer $115 

Senior Team Leader $125 Project Architect $105 

Team Leader $120 Project Interior Designer $105 

Senior Project Architect $115 Designer $95 

Senior Interior Designer $115 Administrative Support $65 

INSURANCE COVERAGE 

Engberg Anderson currently maintains the coverages shown, the costs of which are included in the base fees 

proposed for the project. Additional coverage is negotiated on a project by project basis. 

• Commercial General Liability: $2,000,000 each Occurrence; $4,000,000 Annual Aggregate. 

• Business Automobile: $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit, coverage includes hired and non-owned vehicles. 

• Workers Compensation: Statutory requirements, $1,000,000. 

• Umbrella/Excess Liability: $5,000,000 per Occurrence/Annual Aggregate 

• Professional Liability: $3,000,000 per Claim; $3,000,000 Annual Aggregate 

• Expense of professional liability insurance dedicated exclusively to this Project or the expense of additional 

insurance coverage or limits requested by the Owner in excess of that normally carried by the Architect will 

be a reimbursable expense. 

REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES EXHIBIT 

In addition to the Fees included in the Agreement, expenses incurred in the course of completing the work will 

be invoiced to the Owner in accordance with the following parameters. 

• Transportation in connection with the Project including authorized out-of-town travel, lodging and 

sustenance.   

o Mileage is calculated using the prevailing IRS reimbursement rates.  

o Sustenance is limited to $10/$15/$20 or $45 per day.  

• Reproductions, plots, standard form documents, postage, handling and delivery of instruments of 

service.   

• Renderings, models and mock-ups other than those normally produced by the architect as a part of the 

process and requested by the Library will be provided as an additional expense. 

• Expense of professional liability insurance dedicated exclusively to this Project or the expense of 

additional insurance coverage or limits requested by the Owner in excess of that normally carried by the 

Architect.  The Architect currently maintains shown in the Insurance Coverages Exhibit: 

  



 

 Page 11 

Similar Strategic Facility Plan Projects 
Appleton (WI) Public Library � Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Facility Condition Assessment,  

� Accessibility Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation, 

Renovation/Expansion, Adaptive Reuse, and New Building 

concepts for 140,000 sf. 

Auburn (AL) Public Library � Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Facility Condition Assessment,  

� Accessibility Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation, 

Renovation/Expansion, Adaptive Reuse, and New Building 

concepts for multi-building system. 

Barrington Area (IL) Library � Customer Mapping,  

� Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Facility Condition Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation concepts for 

60,000 sf facility. 

Beloit (WI) Public Library � Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Accessibility Assessment,  

� Facility Condition Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation, 

Renovation/Expansion, Adaptive Reuse, and New Building 

concepts for 57,000 sf facility. 

Bettendorf (IA) Public Library � Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Accessibility Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation, 

Renovation/Expansion concepts for 52,000 sf facility. 

Bloomington (IL) Public Library � Facility Effectiveness Assessment Update,  

� Facility Condition Assessment Update,  

� Strategic Space Needs Update,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation, 

Renovation/Expansion concepts for 51,000 sf facility expanded 

to 70,000 sf. 

Crystal Lake (IL) Public Library � Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Facility Condition Assessment,  

� Accessibility Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation, 

Renovation/Expansion, Adaptive Reuse, and New Building 

concepts for 40,000 sf facility expanded to 72,000 sf 

  



 

 Page 12 

Edwardsville (IL) Public Library � Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Facility Condition Assessment,  

� Accessibility Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation, 

Renovation/Expansion concepts for 20,000 sf facility expanded 

to 36,000 sf. 

Evergreen Park (IL) Public Library � Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation concepts for 

23,000 sf facility. 

Helen Plum Memorial (IL) Public Library � Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Facility Condition Assessment,  

� Accessibility Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation, 

Renovation/Expansion, Adaptive Reuse, and New Building 

concepts for 37,000 sf facility expanded to 52,000 sf. 

Indian Trails (IL) Public Library � Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation, 

Renovation/Expansion concepts for 40,000 sf facility expanded 

to 60,000 sf. 

Joliet (IL) Public library � Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Facility Condition Assessment,  

� Accessibility Assessment,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation concepts for 

74,000 sf facility. 

Lisle (IL) Public Library � Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Facility Condition Assessment,  

� Accessibility Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation, 

Renovation/Expansion, Adaptive Reuse, and New Building 

concepts for 29,000 sf facility expanded to 51,000 sf. 

Marion (IA) Public Library � Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Facility Condition Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation, 

Renovation/Expansion, Branching, Mobile Library, and New 

Building concepts for 24,000 sf building replaced by 50,000 sf 

facility. 

Palatine (IL) Public library � Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Facility Condition Assessment,  

� Accessibility Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation concepts for 

96,000 sf facility and two branches. 



 

 Page 13 

Poplar Creek (IL) Public Library � Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Facility Condition Assessment,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation concepts for 

98,000 sf facility. 

Rockford (IL) Public Library � Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Facility Condition Assessment,  

� Accessibility Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation, 

Renovation/Expansion, Adaptive Reuse, and New Building 

concepts for Interim and new Main Library; Consolidation from 

80,000 sf to 68,000 sf. 

Waukesha (WI) Public Library � Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Facility Condition Assessment,  

� Accessibility Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation, 

Renovation/Expansion concepts for 71,500 sf facility. 

Winnetka Northfield (IL) Public Library 

District 

� Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Accessibility Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation, 

Renovation/Expansion, Branching, concepts for 22,000 sf 

building renovated and 4,000 sf facility expanded to 10,000 sf. 

Academic Library Master Plans 

Hudson County (NJ) Community College 

Libraries 

• North Hudson Library 

• Gabert Library 

� Customer Mapping,  

� Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation concepts for 

7,000 and 33,200 sf libraries. 

University of Wisconsin – Green Bay  

• Cofrin Library 

� Customer Mapping,  

� Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Facility Condition Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation, 

Renovation/Expansion, and New Building concepts.  

Recommend replacement of 185,000 sf building with new 

facility of 180,000 sf. 

University of Wisconsin – Madison  

• Memorial Library 

• College library 

• Steenbock Library 

• 24 building system assessment and 

system redevelopment plan 

� Customer Mapping,  

� Facility Effectiveness Assessment,  

� Facility Condition Assessment,  

� Strategic Space Needs,  

� Concept Development & Testing: Renovation, 

Renovation/Expansion, Adaptive Reuse, and New Building 

concepts.  Recommend overall restructuring from 782,000 sf 

and 24 locations to 595,000 sf in 7 facilities. 

 



Governance and Organizational Structure  
 
GOV-1: Location and Hours 
The Lake Bluff Public Library (the Library) is located at 123 East Scranton Avenue in Lake Bluff, 
Illinois 60044. 
 
As of January 1, 2024, Library hours are: 

 Mondays and Wednesdays 10 a.m. to 6 p.m. 
 Tuesdays and Thursdays 10 a.m. to 9 p.m.  
 Saturdays 10 a.m. to 5 p.m. and  
 Sundays Closed 

 
GOV-2: Library Board Bylaws  
 
1.1 Name  
 
The name of this municipal body is the Lake Bluff Public Library (hereafter referred to as the 
Library). 
 
The Library operates under the Illinois Local Library Act (75 ILCS 5/4-1 et seq). The Lake Bluff 
Public Library Board of Library Trustees (hereafter referred to as the Board), is a publicly elected 
body of seven individuals having the duties, responsibilities, and privileges set forth in Illinois 
State Law. 
 
1.2 Use  
 
The Library shall be used by the residents and taxpayers of the Village of Lake Bluff and other 
patrons as authorized by law subject to such reasonable rules and regulations as the Board may 
adopt. 
 
1.3 Library Board 
 
1.3.1 Responsibilities of the Board 
 
Legal and financial responsibility for the operations of the Library is vested in the Board. Subject 
to existing statutes, the powers of the Board include but are not limited to:  
 

 Determining rules and regulations governing library service;  
 Exercising exclusive control of all expenditures of money credited to the library fund, and 

any grant, gift, or endowment funds provided for library purposes;  
 Determining the property tax levy required to support the Library within the law, and; 
 Hiring, evaluating, and, if necessary, dismissing the Library Director. 



 
The Board may adopt such policies, rules, and regulations for the conduct of its business as shall 
be deemed advisable or necessary and may, in the execution of the powers granted, appoint such 
agents as it may consider necessary. 
 
1.3.2 Qualification and Tenure 
 
Consistent with the Local Library Act (75 ILCS 5/4), the seven Trustees of the Board are elected 
to four-year terms, serving until their successors are elected and have qualified. Terms are 
staggered so that if three positions are up for election, the other four Trustees serve for another 
two years and vice versa. 
 
All Trustees elected to serve on the Board shall be residents of incorporated Lake Bluff. 
 
1.3.3 Trustee Resignation  
 
Any Trustee may resign at any time by giving written notice to the President or Secretary. Such 
resignation shall be effective when the notice is delivered unless the notice specifies a future 
date; and, unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be 
necessary to make it effective. 
 
1.3.4 Trustee Removal  
 
Per the Illinois Local Library Act (75 ILCS 5/4-4) a Trustee vacancy shall be declared under the 
following circumstances: 

 An elected Trustee declines to serve or is unable to serve; 
 A Trustee is absent without cause from all regular Board meetings for one year; 
 A Trustee becomes a nonresident of the Village of Lake Bluff; 
 A Trustee fails to pay the Library taxes levied by the local corporate authority; 
 A Trustee is convicted of a felony or misdemeanor for failing, neglecting, or refusing to 

perform any duty imposed by the Local Libraries Act, or; 
 If at a general election not enough Trustees were elected to create a seven-member 

board. 
 
1.3.5 Trustee Vacancies 
 
When a Trustee vacancy occurs the Library Director shall notify the Lake County Clerk’s office. 
The Board will act to fill the position forthwith by selecting a qualified candidate by majority vote 
to fill the vacant position until the next regular library election at which Library Trustees are 
scheduled to be elected under the consolidated schedule of elections under the general election 
law. At this election a Trustee will be elected to serve the remainder of the term at the next 
regular Board meeting. 



 
1.3.6 Board Officers 
 
The officers of the Board shall be a President, a Vice-President, a Secretary, and a Treasurer. 
Officers shall be elected at the Annual Meeting by majority vote of the Board to fill a one-year 
term. Nominations, with the consent of the nominee, will be made at the Annual Meeting. No 
Trustee shall hold more than one office at a time. In the event of a resignation, an election to fill 
the unexpired term of that office shall be conducted.  
 
All officers shall sign such official and financial documents as necessary, including but not limited 
to contracts, grant applications, and checks.  All officers shall be bonded as specified by law. All 
officers shall perform any other duties as may be assigned by the Board. Specific job descriptions 
of the officers are as follows: 
 

 President – The President of the Board shall preside at all regular and special meetings of 
the Board, authorize calls for any special meetings, execute and sign all documents 
authorized by the Board, approve agendas for regular and special meetings, serve as the 
Library’s representative to the Village of Lake Bluff, and generally perform all duties 
associated with that office and as assigned by the Board. The President also serves as an 
ex-officio member of all committees, with the same expectations and rights as any other 
member of each committee. The President’s attendance counts towards a quorum. 

 Vice President – The Vice-President shall assume and perform all duties of the President 
in the temporary absence of the President. In case of the permanent absence of the 
President, by resignation or otherwise, the Vice-President shall assume and perform all 
duties of the President until such time as a successor is elected.  

 Treasurer –The Treasurer shall serve as the Board’s financial officer and Chairperson of 
the Finance Committee. The Treasurer shall cause to be received and safely kept all 
monies belonging to the Library in depositories approved and designated by the Board, 
in the name of the Library or in such other investments as may be authorized by law, and 
shall disburse the same only upon the authority of the Board. The Treasurer shall cause 
to have prepared a monthly report to the Board of all receipts and disbursements and 
shall review and report on the annual financial audit. In the absence of the President and 
Vice President, the Treasurer shall act as President. In the absence of the Treasurer, the 
President or Vice President may perform the duties of the Treasurer. 

 Secretary – The Secretary shall keep a true and accurate record of all meetings, both 
regular and special, of the full Library Board. In the absence of the President, Vice 
President, and Treasurer the Secretary shall serve as President. In the absence of the 
Secretary, the President shall appoint a secretary pro tempore to keep a record of the 
meeting. The Secretary shall also maintain any other records required by law. 

 



 
1.4 Meetings of the Board of Trustees 
 
All Board meetings shall meet the requirements of the Illinois Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120/2(c) 
et seq.).  
 
1.4.1 Regular Meetings 
 
Before December 31 of each calendar year a regular monthly meeting schedule for the 
subsequent calendar year will be established by the Board and publicly posted. 
 
1.4.2 Annual Meeting 
 
The first regular meeting after May 1 shall be the Annual Meeting of the Board at which the 
Annual Report will be presented, per the Illinois Local Library Act (75 ILCS 5/4-14). The report 
shall include a summary of the year’s work, a statement of plans for the following year, a detailed 
account of the receipts and expenditures of the previous fiscal year, and any other information 
required by State Statutes. Officers and committee members for the next year shall be elected 
by majority vote at the Annual Meeting. 
 
1.4.3 Special Meetings 
 
Special meetings of the Board may be called by the President, or upon the request of any three 
Trustees. Notice of the special meeting shall be given at least 48 hours in advance, except in the 
case of a bona fide emergency. No business shall be transacted other than stated in the notice. 
For an emergency meeting, notice shall be posted as far in advance of the meeting as possible. 
 
1.4.4 Posting of Notice 
 
In keeping with the Illinois Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120/2.02) notice of all meetings shall be 
posted at the library, at the location of the meeting if the meeting is not to be held at the library, 
and online on the Library’s website. Posting shall occur a minimum of 48 hours in advance of the 
meeting except in the case of a bona fide emergency. Any news medium that has filed an annual 
request for meeting notice per the Illinois Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120/2.02(b)) shall receive 
notice of regular, special, emergency, rescheduled, and reconvened meetings. 
 
The Library Director shall prepare and post notice of meetings with the input and approval of the 
President of the Board or, in the case of a Committee posting, a Committee Chair. 
 
1.5 Board Meeting Rules 
 
1.5.1 Quorum 
 



For the transaction of business at any regular or special meeting of the Board a quorum shall 
consist of a majority of the Board. If a meeting has been properly posted and a quorum is not 
present, the meeting can continue but no action can take place. 
 
1.5.2 Remote Participation at Meetings 
 
Under limited circumstances, Trustees unable to be physically present at a public meeting may 
participate in the meeting via communication devices. Communication devices include, without 
limitation, audio and/or video equipment which allows all Trustees and other meeting 
participants to interact on all motions, discussions, and votes. The limited circumstances which 
allow a Trustee to participate via communication devices are personal illness, disability, travel 
due to employment, family emergency, or other emergency. A Trustee wishing to attend via 
communication devices must give advance notice to the Board President and Library Director of 
the desire to attend via communication devices, unless notice is impractical. A majority of a 
quorum must vote in favor of a Trustee attending via communication devices. The circumstances 
supporting use of communication devices shall be announced at the start of a meeting, and such 
circumstances shall be noted in the minutes of the meeting. 
 
Only Trustees attending in person shall be counted toward establishing a quorum.  
 
1.5.3 Conduct of Meeting 
 
The most current available edition of Robert’s Rules of Order shall be the basis for the conduct 
of Board meetings. The President shall preserve order and decorum and decide questions of 
order. In the case of disturbance or disorderly conduct, the President shall have the power to:  

 Remove the offenders; 
 Clear the meeting room of all spectators, or; 
 Suspend or adjourn the meeting. 

 
1.5.4 Trustee Participation 
 
Trustees are expected to attend and participate in all regular Board meetings and to fulfill their 
committee obligations.  
 
1.6 Board Committees 
 
1.6.1 Standing Committees 
 
Library Trustees shall be appointed to Standing Committees at the Annual Meeting by a majority 
vote of the Trustees. Standing Committees shall consist of at least two Trustees. Each Committee 
shall elect a chairperson.  New Standing Committees may be designated by a resolution adopted 
by a majority of the Trustees present at a meeting at which a quorum is present. Any Trustee 
may be removed from a Committee by majority vote of the Board of Library Trustees should, in 



the judgment of the Trustees, the best interests of the Library be served by such a removal. 
Specific Standing Committees are: 
 

 Building and Grounds Committee – Responsibilities include reviewing proposals for the 
repair or improvement of the building and/or landscaping and making recommendations 
to the Board. 

 Engagement Committee – Responsibilities include acting as community liaison to 
community and library organizations, including the ‘Reaching Across Illinois Library 
System’ (RAILS). This Committee shall also undertake any measures necessary to 
communicate with the public regarding the Library’s status, activities, and needs. 

 Finance and Technology Committee – The Treasurer shall be included as Chair of this 
committee. Responsibilities include but are not limited to approving a preliminary Budget 
for Board approval, recommending a tax levy for Board approval, and monitoring funds 
invested according to the Library’s investment policy. Responsibilities also include 
evaluation and budgeting for Library’s technology needs. 

 Human Resources Committee – Responsibilities include preparation of the annual review 
of the Library Director for discussion by the Trustees prior to the formal review, and 
assisting the Library Director in the preparation of his/her annual goals for the coming 
year. The Library Director is responsible for the annual review of all other Library 
employees. 

 Intergovernmental Committee – The Intergovernmental Committee shall be comprised 
of one Library Trustee and the Library Director. As established by the 1999 
Intergovernmental Agreement between the Lake Bluff History Museum, the Village of 
Lake Bluff, and the Lake Bluff Public Library, an Intergovernmental Committee of Museum 
Executive Director, Library Director, Museum Board Member, Library Board member and 
a Village Representative to discuss concerns and coordinate activities relating to both the 
Museum and the Library.  

 Long Range Planning Committee – Responsibilities include working with Library staff in 
the preparation of a Long Range Plan. A Long Range or Strategic Plan of some type should 
always be in place. 

 
1.6.2 Special Committees 
 
Special committees may be created by a resolution adopted by a majority of the Trustees present 
at a meeting at which a quorum is present. Such committees shall be created for a project with 
a limited duration, with the expectation that they will disband when their project has been 
completed. The President shall appoint members to special and ad hoc committees as deemed 
appropriate. Any special committee member may be removed by the President if, in the 
President’s judgment, the best interests of the Library can be served by such a removal. 



 
1.6.3 Quorum for a Committee 
 
A majority of the total membership of any committee shall constitute a quorum. 
 
1.7 Duties of the Library Director 
 
The Board shall select, appoint, and evaluate a qualified librarian as Library Director, who will be 
the Library’s chief executive and be responsible for the day-to-day administration of the Library 
under the general policies approved by the Board. 
 
The Director shall be responsible to the Board pursuant to the provisions of the Local Library Act 
(75 ILCS 5/1-0.1). 
 
The Director will report directly to the Board, will execute the policies adopted by the Board, and 
shall be authorized to establish organizational structure, purchase materials and services, and 
undertake such activities as may be necessary for the library’s operation, subject to the policies 
established by the Board. The Library Director shall have the authority to execute contracts on 
behalf of the Library within the parameters established by the Board. The Library Director shall 
attend all meetings of the Board. The Director shall make a monthly report to the Board and 
submit an Annual Report at the Annual Meeting.  
 
In a manner consistent with the Library’s Personnel Policies and applicable State and Federal 
Laws, the Library Director shall hire, supervise, evaluate and may terminate the employment of 
staff members necessary to carry out the work of the Library. The Director shall direct and 
supervise staff members to ensure the efficient delivery of high quality services.  
 
The Director is responsible to the Board for all properties and funds belonging to the Library. 
 
The Director shall make other reports at the meetings of the Board in such form and on such 
subjects as the Board may direct. 
 
1.7.1 Termination and Resignation 
 
At least 4 weeks (28 days) notice of resignation is requested should the Director choose to submit 
his/her resignation and depart in good standing. A resolution adopted by a majority of the 
Trustees present at a meeting at which a quorum is present is necessary to terminate the 
employment of the Library Director. 
 
1.8 Conflict of Interest 
 
A Trustee has a conflict of interest in a matter if the member’s interest, either through business, 
investment, or family might reasonably create the appearance of or result in: 

 Using public office for direct or indirect private gain; 



 Giving preferential treatment to any organization or person; 
 Losing impartiality of action; 
 Making a government decision outside official channels, or; 
 Adversely affecting the confidence of the public in the integrity of the Board. 

 
1.8.1 Disclosure 
 
Prior to the Board taking action on a matter in which a Trustee has or may have a conflict of 
interest, the Trustee shall disclose the potential conflict to the other Board members. If a Trustee 
has a conflict of interest, he/she will recuse him/herself from the discussion relating to the matter 
that he/she has a conflict with in order to maintain the impartiality of the Board. 
 
If a Trustee believes he/she may have a conflict of interest, he/she will coordinate with the 
President of the Board and the Library Director to determine whether or not this is the case. 
 
1.9 Records 
 
1.9.1 Personnel Records 
 
Staff personnel records are confidential and shall be kept by the Library Director in a secure place. 
Only the Library Director or any person authorized by the Director has access to these records.  
 
1.9.2 Confidential Records 
 
Confidential records of the Board, such as minutes of meetings still closed to the public, shall be 
kept secure, and only Library Trustees shall have access to these records. Space may be provided 
at the Library for confidential Board documents to be securely stored. The President and 
Secretary shall have keys to this access confidential documents. 
 
1.9.3 Regular Meeting Minutes 
 
Minutes will be kept of each regular meeting, reviewed and approved at the subsequent regular 
meeting, and made publicly available in a timely fashion. Minutes will be kept and approved 
according to the Illinois Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120). 
 
1.9.4 Committee Reports 
 
Minutes will be kept of all Committee Meetings and will be presented at the next regularly 
scheduled Board meeting. The minutes will be approved at the next meeting of each committee. 
 
1.9.5 Board Packets 
 



Packets of information provided to Trustees prior to regular, special, and committee meetings 
will be kept on file at the Library and made available to the public upon request. 
 
1.10 Amendment of the Bylaws 
 
These bylaws may be amended at any regular meeting of the Board of Trustees by a two-thirds 
vote of a quorum of the Trustees present. A copy of the proposed amendment must accompany 
the call of the meeting. 
 

























	

Computer	View,	Inc.	
2777	Finley	Road
Suite	13
Downers	Grove,	Illinois	60515
United	States
http://www.cview.net
(P)	847-290-9286	
(F)	847-290-9602	
	

Date
Mar	06,	2024	03:57	PM	CST

Modified	Date
Mar	06,	2024	07:17	PM	CST

Quotation		(Open)

Quote	#	
202746		-	rev	1	of	1

Description
Security	Server

SalesRep
Poluchowicz,		Roxy	
(P)	847-290-9286		ext.	114	
(F)	847-290-9602

Customer	Contact
Grassi,		Renee	
(P)	847-234-2540	
(F)	847-234-2649	
rgrassi@lakeblufflibrary.org	

	

Customer	
Lake	Bluff	Public	Library	(LBL0001)	
Grassi,	Renee
123	E.	Scranton	Ave.
Lake	Bluff,	IL	60044
United	States
(P)	847-234-2540	
(F)	847-234-2649
	

Bill	To	
Lake	Bluff	Public	Library
Grassi,	Renee
123	E.	Scranton	Ave.
Lake	Bluff,	IL	60044
United	States
(P)	847-234-2540	
(F)	847-234-2649	
rgrassi@lakeblufflibrary.org
	

Ship	To	
Lake	Bluff	Public	Library
Grassi,	Renee
123	E.	Scranton	Ave.
Lake	Bluff,	IL	60044
United	States
(P)	847-234-2540	
(F)	847-234-2649	
rgrassi@lakeblufflibrary.org
	

	

Customer	PO: Terms:
Undefined

Ship	Via:
UPS	Ground

Special	Instructions: Carrier	Account	#:

	

#	 Description Part	# Qty Unit	Price Total

	 Security	Server

1		 HPE	DL380	Gen11	12LFF	NC	CTO	Server	 P52533-
B21	

1	 $3,500.00	 $3,500.00	

2		 Intel	Xeon	Silver	4410Y	
2	GHz	-	12-core	-	24	threads	-	30	MB	cache	-	FCLGA4677	Socket	-	for	P/N:	P53568-001	

P49610-
B21	

1	 $1,288.00	 $1,288.00	

3		 HPE	SmartMemory	
DDR5	-	module	-	32	GB	-	DIMM	288-pin	-	4800	MHz	/	PC5-38400	-	CL40	-	1.1	V	-	registered	-	ECC	

P43328-
B21	

2	 $474.00	 $948.00	

4		 HPE	Midline	
Hard	drive	-	8	TB	-	3.5"	LFF	Low	Profile	-	SAS	12Gb/s	-	7200	rpm	

834031-
B21	

8	 $916.00	 $7,328.00	

5		 HPE	MR416i-p	Gen11	SPDM	
Storage	controller	-	up	to	240	physical	drives,	up	to	64	logical	drives	-	16	Channel	-	SATA	6Gb/s	/	SAS	12Gb/s	/	PCIe	4.0
(NVMe)	-	RAID	RAID	0,	1,	5,	6,	10,	50,	60	-	PCIe	4.0	x8	

P47777-
B21	

1	 $1,064.00	 $1,064.00	

6		 Broadcom	BCM57412	
Network	adapter	-	PCIe	3.0	x8	-	1Gb	Ethernet	/	10Gb	Ethernet	SFP+	x	2	-	for	ProLiant	DL20	Gen10,	DL325	Gen10,	DL360
Gen10,	DL380	Gen10,	ML30	Gen10,	XL220n	Gen10	

P26259-
B21	

1	 $188.00	 $188.00	

7		 Broadcom	BCM5719	
Network	adapter	-	PCIe	2.0	x4	-	Gigabit	Ethernet	x	4	-	for	Apollo	4200	Gen10;	ProLiant	DL20	Gen10,	DL325	Gen10,	DL360
Gen10,	DL380	Gen10,	ML30	Gen10	

P51178-
B21	

1	 $74.00	 $74.00	

8		 HPE	96W	Smart	Storage	
Storage	device	battery	-	lithium	ion	-	for	Apollo	4200	Gen10;	ProLiant	DL360	Gen10,	DL365	Gen10,	DL380	Gen10,	ML30
Gen10	

P01366-
B21	

1	 $40.00	 $40.00	

9		 HPE	Enablement	Cable	Kit	
SATA	/	SAS	cable	kit	-	for	ProLiant	DL360	Gen11	

P48918-
B21	

1	 $11.00	 $11.00	

10
	

HPE	Flex	Slot	Platinum	
Power	supply	-	hot-plug	(plug-in	module)	-	Flex	Slot	-	80	PLUS	Platinum	-	AC	230	V	-	800	Watt	

P38995-
B21	

2	 $92.00	 $184.00	

11
	

HPE	
Power	cable	-	power	IEC	60320	C13	straight	to	NEMA	5-15	(P)	-	AC	110	V	-	10	A	-	6	ft	-	black	-	Canada,	United	States	-	for	HPE
MSL2024,	MSL4048;	Apollo	4510	Gen9;	ProLiant	DL180	Gen10,	DL380	G6,	XL290n	Gen10	

AF556A	 2	 $9.00	 $18.00	

12
	

HPE	
Enablement	kit	-	CPU1	to	OCP2	x8	-	for	ProLiant	DL360	Gen11	

P51911-
B21	

1	 $25.00	 $25.00	

13
	

HPE	LFF	Tri-Mode	Cable	Kit	
Storage	cable	kit	-	for	ProLiant	DL380	Gen11	Network	Choice	

P56995-
B21	

1	 $53.00	 $53.00	

14
	

HPE	
Processor	heatsink	kit	-	standard	

P49145-
B21	

1	 $37.00	 $37.00	

https://usm.channelonline.com/cview/email/Products/overview/M024315802
https://usm.channelonline.com/cview/email/Products/overview/M024152319
https://usm.channelonline.com/cview/email/Products/overview/M014765653
https://usm.channelonline.com/cview/email/Products/overview/M024074767
https://usm.channelonline.com/cview/email/Products/overview/M021967474
https://usm.channelonline.com/cview/email/Products/overview/M023656427
https://usm.channelonline.com/cview/email/Products/overview/M018474577
https://usm.channelonline.com/cview/email/Products/overview/M024168855
https://usm.channelonline.com/cview/email/Products/overview/M022356373
https://usm.channelonline.com/cview/email/Products/overview/M003310048
https://usm.channelonline.com/cview/email/Products/overview/M024168906
https://usm.channelonline.com/cview/email/Products/overview/M024168974
https://usm.channelonline.com/cview/email/Products/overview/M024322293


15
	

HPE	Easy	Install	Rail	3	Kit	
Rack	rail	kit	-	for	ProLiant	DL380	Gen11	Network	Choice	

P52341-
B21	

1	 $45.00	 $45.00	

16
	

HPE	Integrated	Lights-Out	Advanced	
License	+	3	Years	24x7	Support	-	1	server	-	electronic	-	for	ProLiant	DL160	Gen10,	DL180	Gen10,	DL20	Gen10,	DX360	Gen10,
ML30	Gen10,	XL290n	Gen10	

E6U64ABE	 1	 $233.00	 $233.00	

17
	

HPE	Greenlake	COM	EN	5Y	ProLiant	aaS	 R7A12AAE	 1	 $750.00	 $750.00	

18
	

HPE	Pointnext	Tech	Care	Essential	Service	
Extended	service	agreement	-	parts	and	labor	-	5	years	-	on-site	-	24x7	-	response	time:	4	h	-	for	ProLiant	DL380	Gen11
Network	Choice	

H93J8E	 1	 $5,500.00	 $5,500.00	

	 Software

19
	

Microsoft	Windows	Server	Standard	Edition	
License	&	software	assurance	-	16	cores	-	academic	-	Open	Value	-	additional	product,	1	Year	Acquired	Year	1	-	Single
Language	

9EM-
00723	

1	 $267.00	 $267.00	

20
	

Installation	/	Configuration	 INST	 1	 $3,100.00	 $3,100.00	

	

N.B.:	This	project	requires	a	50%	deposit.

Thank	you	for	choosing	Computer	View	Inc.	Please	sign,	date	and	FAX	or	email
this	form	to	order.	The	quote	is	good	for	20	days.

These	prices	DO	NOT	include	applicable	taxes,	insurance,	shipping,	delivery,	setup
fees,	or	any	cables	or	cabling	services	or	material	unless	specifically	listed	above.
All	prices	are	subject	to	change	without	notice.	Supply	subject	to	availability.
	

Subtotal: $24,653.00
Shipping: $0.00

Total: $24,653.00

	

https://usm.channelonline.com/cview/email/Products/overview/M024078927
https://usm.channelonline.com/cview/email/Products/overview/M010333147
https://usm.channelonline.com/cview/email/Products/overview/M024168434
https://usm.channelonline.com/cview/email/Products/overview/M022512402


Hours Pilot Monthly Report 
February 2024 

 

Visit Count Jan. 2024 Feb. 2024 

Average: Mondays 4-6 pm 20 36 

Average: Tuesdays 6-9 pm 11 14 

Average: Wednesdays 4-6 pm   20 23 

Average: Thursdays 6-9 pm 15 11 

Average: Saturdays 10-5 pm 107 104 

Staff Leave   

Sick 132.75 hrs. 348.50 hrs.  

Vacation 29.5 hrs. 61.50 hrs. 

Personal 15 hrs. 21 hrs. 

Holiday 125.75 hrs. 0 hrs. 

Bereavement 4 hrs. 0 hrs.  

Monthly Leave Total 307 hrs. 431 hrs. 

Total Work Hrs. Paid 2304 hrs. 2166.75 hrs. 

Leave Percentage  13.3% 19.9% 

Programs    

Number of programs cancelled 5 1 

Number of programs rescheduled 3 0 

Library Services   

Number of staff hours added to passports 0 2 hrs. 

Number of staff hours removed to passports 0 0 

Number of passport cancellations 14 0 

Number of passport appointments rescheduled  12 0 

 
Organizational Capacity  
“Although we have been better able to staff the desk on Saturdays when someone is out unexpectedly, 
management staff have had to cover more Saturday PIC shifts. Part time staff have helped cover the desk for 
another FT staff member who is out on FMLA, but managers have had to step in to provide coverage for this 
desk shift as well. This has been easier to do since all of the managers are down to one regular desk shift per 
week max, but it still presents a coverage challenge. Desk staff have reported similar feedback compared to last 
month, in that patrons are commenting the most about missing Sunday hours.”    

-Katie Horner, Reference and Circulation Manager 
 

“On Monday, February 19 on President’s Day, the Library was down 6 staff members due to unexpected 
(illnesses) and expected absences. We were staffed thinly but able to stay open without calling in any additional 
staff, due to the newly adjusted operating schedule!”         - Eliza Jarvi, Youth Services Manager 
  
“We had some staffing challenges in February. Overall, these challenges were largely manageable, though there 
were a few days that required some creative timing with breaks. However, I don’t think the same challenges 
would have been manageable under our former schedule of hours—we would have been stretched way too thin 
and I think we likely would have had to consider closing on some evenings.” 
-Martha O’Hara, Adult Services & Technology Manager 
 



Hours Pilot Monthly Report 
February 2024 

“Personally, Sundays being closed has been the biggest pro. Being able to guarantee all staff a day off in the 
week after years of being called in last minute for weekend coverage I think is huge. It took a weight off." 

-Anonymous Staff Feedback  
 
“One of the benefits of being closed on Sunday for such a small library is having an opportunity to recharge at 
least one day in a weekend. Prior to the pilot the staff (who may or may not have already worked on Saturday) 
were asked to come in and sub on Sunday due to staff shortage before starting a new week. This break reduces 
the burn out levels.        -Anonymous Staff Feedback  
 
Delivery of Library Services  
Assessment of Desk Coverage: The Library continues to have difficulty filling some desk shifts when a staff 
member has a planned absence or vacation. Managers have had to step in on a couple different occasions to 
help staff find coverage for doctor’s appointments, a weekend wedding, etc. 
 
Assessment of Passport Service Capacity: Staff have fielded a significant number of general passport questions in 
the last month, mainly due to spring break travel. As a result, the Library has had to refer most patrons to other 
agencies because it lacked availability. On one particular Saturday, a staff member estimated that they 
answered 6-8 calls about passports in a 2 hour span. Martha added 2 hours of passport availability in February. 
Despite this increase in staff availability, appointments are booked immediately, usually on the same day that 
new appointments were added. 
 
Assessment of Notary Service Capacity: Katie has had to turn down a few notary requests because they came in 
late in the day when I was preparing to leave, or because I already had a very full afternoon and wasn’t able to 
accommodate in the request. Claire is still in the training phase as a notary, and so she typically only notarizes 
documents when I am available to observe. Many of the requests I’ve received haven’t lined up with her hours, 
so we haven’t been able to move through training as quickly as we’d like. 
 
Assessment of Other Services: Martha O’Hara had a conversation with one community group this month 
regarding the impact of the Hours Pilot on Meeting Room usage. In its current schedule, the Library only has two 
evenings available for local groups to book the room, which can be challenging because they are also competing 
with library programs and Board meetings for those two evenings. While the new hours have impacted this, a 
more impactful factor is that the Library has only one room that serves multiple functions: library programming 
space and public meeting room. If space were not a consideration and there was one space for each purpose, 
Hours Pilot would not have such a large impact.  



I hope you do away with the pilot 
hours thing. The different hours 
each day make it confusing to      

remember when you're open, and 
being closed on Sunday is really  
disappointing. I've always pre-

ferred you to Lake Forest library, 
but at least they're open Sunday. 
(I   somehow doubt the taxes I 

pay to support the library will go 
down with the reduced hours.)  

“With the reduced pilot hours 
perhaps your staff meetings 

could be moved to a time out-
side normal operating hours. I 

was working in the museum Fri-
day and noted quite a number 

of people who arrived expecting 
to use the library. Just a sug-
gestion, as these closures are 
not something easily communi-

cated to your patrons.” 

“Sunday in the winter is key for us 
as well. We have started going to 

LF library on Sundays, but in doing 
that we are there more often to   
return books and check out new 
ones on other days as well. We 

rarely go to LB library now.” 

“This survey is only 3 questions. I 
would like to see a more in-depth     

survey about the reduced hours. I fear 
you will find, as programs are cancelled 

and the doors locked, that the library 
will carry less   relevance in the      

community and garner less support 
when support is necessary. Having 

open doors sends an important signal 
to the community that I suspect is    

necessary for the institution to continue 
thriving in Lake Bluff. You save a few   
dollars by cutting hours but at a high 
cost for the future of the library. Dual-

income families are the norm now, and 
we rely on weekend and evening 

hours. Other activities will fill families' 
time and they will stop caring so much 

about the library.” 

“I miss Sunday library time in 
the winter! Hoping Sundays will 
make it back in to the rotation.” 

“Same. Sunday after-
noon library hours are 
key for us. Too many 
sports on Saturdays. 

Thanks for considering 
our input. We love the 

LB library!” 

“It would be great if the library be 
open on Sundays at least for 5 

hours. We miss it.” 

Hours Pilot: Written Feedback 
February 2024 



Lake Bluff Public Library  
Day Hour Heatmap (Vea Software) 

January, 2024 

DATA KEY 
 Date Range: Jan. 1-31, 2024 
 Traffic Ins only 
 Monthly Average  



Lake Bluff Public Library  
Day Hour Heatmap (Vea Software) 

February, 2024 

DATA KEY 
 Date Range: Feb. 1-29, 2024 
 Traffic Ins only 
 Monthly Average  







Highlight



Highlight

Highlight

Highlight

Highlight

Highlight

Highlight

Highlight







A LETTER FROM THE LIBRARY BOARD PRESIDENT: 

NEW LEADERSHIP, NEW PERSPECTIVES  

Hello Lake Bluff neighbors,                                   

As the current President of the Lake Bluff Public Library 

Board of Trustees, I wanted to reach out and provide an 

update. After serving as Secretary and Vice-President, I 

was elected President almost a year ago. I can tell you, it 

has been a rewarding way to give back after a 30-year 

career with Abbott/AbbVie.    

For 2023, the immediate focus of the Library Board was to support the organization’s 

first leadership transition in over 10 years with the appointment of our new Library 

Director, Renee Grassi. I’m delighted to report that Renee has been a tremendous 

addition and brings contagious enthusiasm, broad experience and a deep commitment 

to our Library. It is due to her leadership that you may have noticed improvements 

we’ve made at the Library, such as new furniture in the Children’s and Adult 

sections,  replacement of a temperamental 12-year old copier/printer, and new building 

counters to analyze demand for in-building Library usage. In addition to new resources, 

you may have also been greeted by some new faces as four new individuals were hired 

to backfill existing roles.    

While there have been many improvements at the Library, we’ve also had some 

challenges. The Library building is almost 50 years old, and as a result, a number of 

building systems require updates to improve efficiency and meet newer safety and 

accessibility codes. In January, for example, the Library’s HVAC systems could not heat 

the building to a safe temperature, which led to the Library closing its doors for several 

days to replace its furnace. Important capital projects now need to be prioritized to 

prevent unexpected closures and to make the building and property more welcoming for 

all. In fact, later this year, the Library will be working with the Village of Lake Bluff to 

plan the repair and replacement of sidewalks around the Library property. To address 

increasing building needs and funding gaps, the Library has already applied for several 

grants with the hopes of subsidizing these costs. 

Another notable change was the implementation of the Library Hours Pilot beginning in 

January. Based on staff shortages, low visit count, and financial constraints, the Library 

https://live-lake-bluff-public-library.pantheonsite.io/news/hvac-updates
https://live-lake-bluff-public-library.pantheonsite.io/news/hvac-updates
https://live-lake-bluff-public-library.pantheonsite.io/library-hours-pilot


Published on Lake Bluff Library website on Monday 3/18/2024 

is currently piloting new operating hours to ensure that operations remain sustainable 

long term. We welcome your input on these adjusted hours and invite you to participate 

in our brief survey. 

Major financial planning is needed to keep the Library safe and open to the public so 

that we can continue providing top-notch service. Because of this, the Board has now 

shifted our focus to evaluating the organization’s financial position. Even though the 

Library’s Reserves have increased over the last few years, the Annual Operating 

Budget and General Fund Reserves lag behind neighboring peer libraries. Also, the 

Library does not have a Capital Reserve Fund to cover expected and unexpected 

building projects. Upon Director Grassi’s suggestion, the Library Board held its first-ever 

Board Retreat, at which Trustees were introduced to the options our organization could 

take to improve its financial position. A summary of the Board Retreat will be shared 

with the public next week. 

The Lake Bluff Public Library Board of Trustees is committed to being a good steward of 

all the Library resources—from the talented staff to the physical collection and the 

building. Over the next several months, we will be creating a plan to cast a new financial 

future for the Library. We look forward to working with you on this important task 

through various community engagement efforts, such as surveys and focus groups.  

I am grateful for the engaged Library Board and the vibrant community of Lake Bluff. I 

hope to see you at an upcoming Library event or perhaps browsing our Adult Fiction 

collection.   

The Library wants to hear from you. Attend a Board Meeting and participate in public 

comment, or email Library Director Renee directly.  

Bonnie Shaul 

Library Board President      
 

 

 

 

 

https://live-lake-bluff-public-library.pantheonsite.io/hours-pilot-survey
https://live-lake-bluff-public-library.pantheonsite.io/events
https://www.lakeblufflibrary.org/about-us/board-trustees/meetings
https://live-lake-bluff-public-library.pantheonsite.io/contact-library-director


(/news/)
American Library Association reports record number of unique book
titles challenged in 2023

For Immediate Release
Thu, 03/14/2024

Contact:
Raymond Garcia
Communications Specialist
Communications, Marketing & Media Relations Office
cmomedia@ala.org (mailto:cmomedia@ala.org )

Public Libraries Saw 92 Percent Increase In Number of Titles Targeted for Censorship
Over The Previous Year

CHICAGO — The number of titles targeted for censorship surged 65 percent in 2023 compared to 2022,
reaching the highest levels ever documented by the American Library Association (ALA). The new numbers
released today show efforts to censor 4,240 unique book titles* in schools and libraries. This tops the
previous high from 2022, when 2,571 unique titles were targeted for censorship. 

ALA’s Office for Intellectual Freedom documented 1,247 demands to censor library books, materials, and
resources in 2023. Four key trends emerged from the data gathered from 2023 censorship reports: 

Pressure groups in 2023 focused on public libraries in addition to targeting school libraries. The

number of titles targeted for censorship at public libraries increased by 92 percent over the previous

year; school libraries saw an 11 percent increase.

Groups and individuals demanding the censorship of multiple titles, often dozens or hundreds at a

time, drove this surge.  

Titles representing the voices and lived experiences of LGBTQIA+ and BIPOC individuals made up 47

percent of those targeted in censorship attempts. 

There were attempts to censor more than 100 titles in each of these 17 states: Colorado, Connecticut,

Florida, Idaho, Illinois, Iowa, Kentucky, Maryland, Missouri, North Carolina, Ohio, Pennsylvania,

Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Virginia, and Wisconsin.

“The reports from librarians and educators in the field make it clear that the organized campaigns to ban
books aren’t over, and that we must all stand together to preserve our right to choose what we read,” said
Deborah Caldwell-Stone, director of ALA’s Office for Intellectual Freedom. “Each demand to ban a book is a
demand to deny each person’s constitutionally protected right to choose and read books that raise important
issues and lift up the voices of those who are often silenced.  By joining initiatives like Unite Against Book
Bans and other organizations that support libraries and schools, we can end this attack on essential
community institutions and our civil liberties."

ALA will unveil its highly anticipated list of the top 10 most challenged books in the U.S. on Monday, April 8,
which is Right to Read Day of National Library Week
(https://www.ala.org/conferencesevents/celebrationweeks/natlibraryweek), along with its full State of
America's Libraries Report.

https://www.ala.org/news/
https://www.ala.org/news/
https://www.ala.org/news/
mailto:cmomedia@ala.org
mailto:cmomedia@ala.org
https://www.ala.org/conferencesevents/celebrationweeks/natlibraryweek
https://www.ala.org/conferencesevents/celebrationweeks/natlibraryweek


 (/news/feed/press-
releases/rss.xml)
Subscribe
(/news/feed/press-
releases/rss.xml)
Related Images

(Click for full-size)

(https://www.ala.org/ne
ws/sites/ala.org.news/fi
les/news/pressreleasei
mages/unique%20titles

%202000-
2023.jpg)Download

(https://www.ala.org/ne
ws/sites/ala.org.news/fi
les/news/pressreleasei
mages/unique%20titles

%202000-2023.jpg)

"Every challenge to a library book is an attack on our freedom to read. The books being targeted again focus
on LGBTQ+ and people of color. Our communities and our country are stronger because of diversity. Libraries
that reflect their communities' diversity promote learning and empathy that some people want to hide or
eliminate,” said ALA President Emily Drabinski. “Libraries are vital institutions to each and every community in
this country, and library professionals, who have dedicated their lives to protecting our right to read, are facing
threats to their employment and well-being." 

In response to the surge of book challenges and efforts to restrict access to information, ALA launched Unite
Against Book Bans (https://uniteagainstbookbans.org/), a national initiative to empower readers everywhere
to stand together in the fight against censorship. The coalition will mark its second anniversary during
National Library Week.

For more information about ALA and its intellectual freedom efforts, visit www.ala.org (http://www.ala.org/). For
a breakdown for censorship challenges by state visit this heat map
(https://public.flourish.studio/visualisation/17024101/).

* ALA compiles data on book challenges from reports filed with its Office for Intellectual Freedom by library
professionals in the field and from news stories published throughout the United States. Because many book
challenges are not reported to the ALA or covered by the press, the 2023 data compiled by ALA represents
only a snapshot of book censorship throughout the year. A challenge to a book may be resolved in favor of
retaining the book in the collection, or it can result in a book being restricted or withdrawn from the library.

About the American Library Association
The American Library Association (ALA) is the foremost national organization providing resources to inspire
library and information professionals to transform their communities through essential programs and services.
For more than 140 years, the ALA has been the trusted voice for academic, public, school, government and
special libraries, advocating for the profession and the library’s role in enhancing learning and ensuring
access to information for all. For more information, visit  (http://www.ala.org/)www.ala.org
(http://www.ala.org/).

 

https://www.ala.org/news/feed/press-releases/rss.xml
https://www.ala.org/news/feed/press-releases/rss.xml
https://www.ala.org/news/feed/press-releases/rss.xml
https://www.ala.org/news/feed/press-releases/rss.xml
https://www.ala.org/news/feed/press-releases/rss.xml
https://www.ala.org/news/feed/press-releases/rss.xml
https://www.ala.org/news/sites/ala.org.news/files/news/pressreleaseimages/unique%20titles%202000-2023.jpg
https://www.ala.org/news/sites/ala.org.news/files/news/pressreleaseimages/unique%20titles%202000-2023.jpg
https://www.ala.org/news/sites/ala.org.news/files/news/pressreleaseimages/unique%20titles%202000-2023.jpg
https://www.ala.org/news/sites/ala.org.news/files/news/pressreleaseimages/unique%20titles%202000-2023.jpg
https://www.ala.org/news/sites/ala.org.news/files/news/pressreleaseimages/unique%20titles%202000-2023.jpg
https://www.ala.org/news/sites/ala.org.news/files/news/pressreleaseimages/unique%20titles%202000-2023.jpg
https://www.ala.org/news/sites/ala.org.news/files/news/pressreleaseimages/unique%20titles%202000-2023.jpg
https://www.ala.org/news/sites/ala.org.news/files/news/pressreleaseimages/unique%20titles%202000-2023.jpg
https://www.ala.org/news/sites/ala.org.news/files/news/pressreleaseimages/unique%20titles%202000-2023.jpg
https://www.ala.org/news/sites/ala.org.news/files/news/pressreleaseimages/unique%20titles%202000-2023.jpg
https://www.ala.org/news/sites/ala.org.news/files/news/pressreleaseimages/unique%20titles%202000-2023.jpg
https://www.ala.org/news/sites/ala.org.news/files/news/pressreleaseimages/unique%20titles%202000-2023.jpg
https://www.ala.org/news/sites/ala.org.news/files/news/pressreleaseimages/unique%20titles%202000-2023.jpg
https://www.ala.org/news/sites/ala.org.news/files/news/pressreleaseimages/unique%20titles%202000-2023.jpg
https://uniteagainstbookbans.org/
https://uniteagainstbookbans.org/
https://uniteagainstbookbans.org/
http://www.ala.org/
http://www.ala.org/
https://public.flourish.studio/visualisation/17024101/
https://public.flourish.studio/visualisation/17024101/
http://www.ala.org/
http://www.ala.org/
http://www.ala.org/
http://www.ala.org/


Tags
Public Awareness (/news/taxonomy/term/861), Office for Intellectual Freedom (OIF)
(/news/taxonomy/term/618)

https://www.ala.org/news/taxonomy/term/861
https://www.ala.org/news/taxonomy/term/861
https://www.ala.org/news/taxonomy/term/618
https://www.ala.org/news/taxonomy/term/618

